Development of an LCA-based approach for a regional assessment of the environmental impacts of nitrogen in crop production systems

Entwicklung einer LCA-basierten Methodik zur regionalen Bewertung der Umweltwirkungen von Stickstoff bei der Produktion landwirtschaftlicher Rohstoffe



TECHNISCHE UNIVERSITÄT DARMSTADT

Vom Fachbereich Bau- und Umweltingenieurwissenschaften der Technischen Universität Darmstadt

zur Erlangung des akademischen Grades

Doktor-Ingenieur (Dr.-Ing.)

genehmigte

DISSERTATION

von

Dipl.-Ing. agr. Karoline Maria Wowra

geb. in Nikolai, Polen

Erstreferentin: Prof. Dr. rer. nat. Liselotte Schebek Korreferentin: Prof. Dr. Britta Schmalz

Darmstadt, 2023

Karoline Maria Wowra

Development of an LCA-based approach for a regional assessment of the environmental impacts of nitrogen in crop production systems

Darmstadt, Technische Universität Darmstadt Jahr der Veröffentlichung der Dissertation auf TUprints: 2023

URN: urn:nbn:de:tuda-tuprints-232579 URI: https://tuprints.ulb.tu-darmstadt.de/id/eprint/23257

Erstreferentin: Prof. Dr. rer. nat. Liselotte Schebek Korreferentin: Prof. Dr. Britta Schmalz

Tag der mündlichen Prüfung: 09. Februar 2023



Veröffentlicht unter CC BY-NC-ND 4.0 International https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

"Remember, always, that everything you know, and everything everyone knows, is only a model. Get your model out there where it can be viewed. Invite others to challenge your assumptions and add their own."

Donella H. Meadows, Thinking in Systems: A Primer

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

In the first place, I would like to thank my supervisor Prof. Schebek for the supervision and advice, but also for always believing in me and her supportive way of motivating me and finally pushing me to the finalization of this work.

Furthermore, I would like to thank Prof. Dr. Britta Schmalz for being my second supervisor and Prof. Wim de Vries for providing me with the relevant data to build this work.

I would also like to thank Vanessa Zeller for supporting me in discussing my ideas, my approach and finally results.

A further thank you goes to Winfried, who helped me with several hours of discussion and supervising me in developing my approach.

Moreover, I would like to thank my former colleagues and friends from SUR Matthias, Almut, Julia, Laura, Bea, Othman, Alessio, and all the others who have accompanied and shared this valuable time with me. Furthermore, my PhD partners in crime Leonie and Johannes, for the several talks and phone calls.

A special thank you is dedicated to Steffi and Max for being not only the best supporters, advisors, motivators, and colleagues I could have wished for but primarily for being great friends.

Among my former colleagues, I would also like to thank one further very important person on my PhD journey – Iris, you have been a great colleague and friend. You are the one knowing best that I would not have finished this thesis without you believing and motivating me in hours of phone calls and talks in your office. Thank you.

Besides, I would like to thank my friends for always being supportive, listening, crying and laughing with me, and celebrating even the smallest achievements.

Finally, my biggest gratitude is dedicated to my family. It is hard for me to describe what their support and love mean to me - especially my parents and my brother for their understanding, trust, and endless support at any time.

ABSTRACT

Agricultural systems are dependent on nitrogen (N) inputs to achieve food security and, at the same time, put high pressure on environmental systems. Accordingly, global limits for N-cycles are already exceeded. However, the release of N compounds from agricultural cropping systems mainly impacts the regional level, for instance, by eutrophication or acidification of terrestrial systems. Therefore, avoiding the exceedance of regional boundaries is essential. Likewise, when assessing environmental impacts on agricultural cropping systems with Life Cycle Assessment (LCA), integration of regional N thresholds and, thus, regionalization plays a crucial role.

This thesis aims to provide an LCA-based approach to comprehensively assess N on a regional level by integrating N thresholds as reference values and regionalization in LCA. This thesis is a cumulative dissertation consisting of three peer-reviewed publications.

In the first publication, a comprehensive review following the LCA framework is presented by analyzing literature on regionalization approaches applied to agricultural cropping systems compared with general requirements of LCA and the scientific background of the N-cycle. Key factors are derived, formulating the basis for a targeted N assessment in LCA. The second publication presents the development of an approach for integrating regional N resilience as distance-to-target value in LCA. Therefore, regional carrying capacity based normalization references are derived for two N-related impact categories: terrestrial acidification and eutrophication. Additionally, regional background interventions comprising N-related emissions of non-crop production sectors are taken into account. Regional environmental interventions of cropping systems applying different yield scenarios are assessed for two regions. The newly developed approach is further developed within the third publication and applied to a case study including five NUTS-3 regions in Germany. The influence on regional N resilience is evaluated by assessing environmental interventions for four N management scenarios based on policy measures of the German Fertilizer Ordinance.

The case study demonstrates that environmental interventions and exceedance of N resilience are lowest in N scenarios applying catch crops for both impact categories assessed. Furthermore, regional differences in the exceedance of N resilience were observed.

Overall the analyses done within this thesis revealed that considering absolute sustainability references as regional N resilience in LCA is a valuable tool for agricultural decision-makers. This supports LCA practitioners by providing normalization references directly applicable for LCA and N-assessment of cropping systems. Additionally, it helps regional stakeholders to provide the possibility to evaluate and decide on the best options for N reduction strategies on the regional level and draw attention to vulnerable regions threatening N resilience. Finally, challenges, future research needs, and opportunities for application of the approach are outlined.

KURZFASSUNG

Landwirtschaftliche Produktionssysteme sind auf Stickstoffeinträge angewiesen, um die Versorgung mit Nahrungs- und Futtermitteln und somit die Ernährungssicherheit zu gewährleisten. Gleichzeitig üben sie jedoch großen Druck auf ökologische Systeme aus. Folglich sind planetare Grenzwerte für Stickstoffkreisläufe bereits überschritten. Die Freisetzung von Stickstoffverbindungen aus landwirtschaftlichen Anbausystemen wirkt sich jedoch hauptsächlich auf regionaler Ebene aus, z. B. durch Eutrophierung oder Versauerung von terrestrischen Ökosystemen. Daher ist es erforderlich, die Überschreitung regionaler Grenzen zu vermeiden. Auch bei der Bewertung der Umweltauswirkungen landwirtschaftlicher Anbausysteme mit Hilfe des Life Cycle Assessment (LCA) spielen regionale Stickstoffgrenzwerte und somit die Regionalisierung der LCA eine entscheidende Rolle.

Ziel der vorliegenden Arbeit ist daher, die Entwicklung eines LCA-basierten Ansatzes für eine umfassende Bewertung von Stickstoff (N) auf regionaler Ebene durch die Integration von Stickstoffgrenzwerten als Referenzwerte und Regionalisierung im LCA. Die vorliegende Arbeit ist eine kumulative Dissertation, die aus drei, von externen Experten (peer-reviewed), begutachteten Veröffentlichungen besteht.

In der ersten Veröffentlichung wird ein umfassender Überblick über den LCA-Rahmen gegeben, indem Literatur zu Regionalisierungsansätzen für landwirtschaftliche Anbausysteme vergleichend zu allgemeinen Anforderungen der LCA und dem wissenschaftlichen Hintergrund des Stickstoffkreislaufs analysiert werden. Es werden Schlüsselfaktoren abgeleitet, die die Grundlage für eine gezielte Stickstoff-Bewertung in Ökobilanzen bilden. In der zweiten Veröffentlichung wird ein Ansatz zur Integration der regionalen N-Belastbarkeit als Distanceto-target-Wert in die LCA entwickelt. Hierzu werden für zwei N-bezogene Wirkungskategorien (terrestrische Versauerung und terrestrische Eutrophierung), regionale, auf der Tragfähigkeit basierende. Normierungsreferenzen abgeleitet. Zusätzlich werden regionale Hintergrundbelastungen berücksichtigt, die N-bezogene Emissionen aus nicht-ackerbaulichen Produktionssektoren umfassen. Regionale Umwelteinflüsse von Anbausystemen mit unterschiedlichen Ertragsszenarien werden für zwei Regionen bewertet. Der neu entwickelte Ansatz wird in der dritten Veröffentlichung weiterentwickelt und auf eine Fallstudie angewendet, die fünf NUTS-3-Regionen in Deutschland umfasst. Der Einfluss auf die regionale Stickstoffresilienz wird durch die Bewertung von Umweltinterventionen für vier Stickstoffmanagement-Szenarien auf deutschen Grundlage von Maßnahmen der Düngemittelverordnung bewertet.

Die Fallstudie zeigt, dass die Umweltwirkungen und die Überschreitung der Stickstoff-Belastbarkeit in den Stickstoffszenarien mit Zwischenfruchtanbau für die untersuchten Wirkungskategorien am geringsten sind. Außerdem wurden regionale Unterschiede bei der Überschreitung der N-Belastbarkeit festgestellt. Insgesamt zeigt die im Rahmen dieser Arbeit durchgeführte Analyse, dass die Berücksichtigung absoluter Nachhaltigkeitsreferenzen, wie der regionalen N-Resilienz, im Life Cycle Assessment ein wertvolles Instrument für landwirtschaftliche Entscheidungsträger zur Bewertung von Stickstoffmanagementstrategien für pflanzliche Produktionssysteme darstellt. Dies unterstützt LCA-Anwender durch die Bereitstellung von Normierungsreferenzen, die direkt zur Anwendung in der LCA zur Bewertung von Stickstoff in landwirtschaftlichen Anbausystemen anwendbar sind. Darüber hinaus wird regionalen Akteuren die Möglichkeit geboten, die für sie besten Optionen für Stickstoffreduktionsstrategien auf regionaler Ebene zu bewerten und die Aufmerksamkeit auf gefährdete Regionen zu richten, deren Stickstoffresilienz gefährdet ist.

Abschließend werden Herausforderungen und Anwendungsmöglichkeiten des Ansatzes diskutiert sowie der künftige Forschungsbedarf und weitere Möglichkeiten zur Übertragbarkeit skizziert.

PUBLICATIONS

I. NITROGEN IN LIFE CYCLE ASSESSMENT (LCA) OF AGRICULTURAL CROP PRODUCTION SYSTEMS: COMPARATIVE ANALYSIS OF REGIONALIZATION APPROACHES.

Wowra, K., Zeller, V., Schebek, L. Science of The Total Environment 2021 Volume 763, 143009 DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.143009

II. REGIONAL NITROGEN RESILIENCE AS DISTANCE-TO-TARGET APPROACH IN LCA OF CROP PRODUCTION SYSTEMS

Wowra, K., Zeller, V., Schebek, L.

Environmental Impact Assessment Review 2022, Volume 97, 106869

DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eiar.2022.106869

III. EVALUATION OF THE ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE OF CROPPING SYSTEMS UNDER DIFFERENT NITROGEN MANAGEMENT SCENARIOS CONSIDERING REGIONAL NITROGEN RESILIENCE

Wowra, K., Zeller, V., Schebek, L. Sustainability 2022, Volume 14 (22), 15286 DOI: https://doi.org/10.3390/su142215286

CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS						
AB	STRA	СТ III				
КU	RZFA	SSUNGV				
PUI	BLICA	ATIONS				
CONTENTS						
LIS	T OF I	FIGURESXI				
115	T OF T	TABLES XIII				
115		ABBREVIATIONS				
1						
1	INTR	ODUCTION				
1.1		Overview1				
1.2		Problem definition				
1.3		Structure of the thesis				
1.4		Theoretical background				
1.4	.1	Life Cycle Assessment				
1.4.2		The concept of planetary boundaries and regional nitrogen thresholds				
1.4.3		Absolute sustainability references and carrying capacities in Life Cycle Assessment 9				
2	NITR SYST	OGEN IN LIFE CYCLE ASSESSMENT (LCA) OF AGRICULTURAL CROP PRODUCTION TEMS: COMPARATIVE ANALYSIS OF REGIONALIZATION APPROACHES				
3	regi Proi	ONAL NITROGEN RESILIENCE AS DISTANCE-TO-TARGET APPROACH IN LCA OF CROP DUCTION SYSTEMS				
4	EVAL DIFFI RESIL	LUATION OF THE ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE OF CROPPING SYSTEMS UNDER ERENT NITROGEN MANAGEMENT SCENARIOS CONSIDERING REGIONAL NITROGEN LIENCE				
4.1		Introduction				
4.2		Materials and methods				
4.2.1		Distance-to-target approach for assessing the environmental performance				
4.2.2		Case Study Regions				
4.2.3		Goal, scope and functional unit				
4.2.4		Life Cycle Inventory and assumptions				
4.2.4.1		Nitrogen management scenarios and effects of nitrogen reducing management 21				

4.2.4.2	Consideration of direct and indirect emissions	22			
4.2.5	Life Cycle Impact Assessment	22			
4.2.6	Sensitivity and uncertainty analysis	23			
4.3	Results and discussion	26			
4.3.1	Current background interventions and regional normalization references	26			
4.3.2	Environmental performance of rapeseed production systems	28			
4.3.2.1	Regional differences in nitrogen management scenarios	28			
4.3.2.2	Contribution of agricultural processes in N-management scenarios	34			
4.3.3	Recommendation for decision makers and added value for decision support	36			
4.3.4	Limitations and improvement of the approach	36			
4.4	Conclusions	37			
5 SYN	ITHESIS	38			
5.1	Summary of key findings	38			
5.2	Challenges, application, and transferability of the approach	42			
6 COI		46			
7 REF	ERENCES	48			
APPENDIXXVII					

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1: Structure of the thesis	4
Figure 2.1. Graphical abstract review study Wowra et al. (2021)	0
Figure 3.1. Graphical abstract study on approach development Wowra et al. (2022b)	2
Figure 4.1. Graphical abstract case study Wowra et al. (2022a)	4
Figure 4.2. System boundary and considered processes for LCA of rapeseed production systems for a NUTS-3 region. The dotted lines show optional process steps depending on the scenario considered	21
Figure 4.3. Background intervention in Germany for the impact categories terrestrial acidification potential, regional and terrestrial eutrophication potential, national. The intervention of NUTS-3 regions is shown as a share of distribution from low to high	27
Figure 4.4. Regional normalization reference (rNR), background intervention (BI) and regional normalization references considering background interventions (rNR _{BI}) for the five case study regions for terrestrial acidification potential, TAP and terrestrial eutrophication potential, TEP. Relative differences from rNR for the resulting rNR _{BI} are shown in color	28
Figure 4.5. Environmental performance expressed as environmental intervention (EI, as annual personal share per functional unit, FU) of the case study regions Ansbach, Kassel and Mecklenburgische Seenplatte for (a) terrestrial acidification potential, regional and (b) terrestrial eutrophication potential, national. Results are displayed for the different N- management scenarios (Nbase = N-base scenario; Nman = N-management scenario, Ncc = N-catch crop scenario, Norg = N-organic scenario). Error bars represent 95% probability range based on Monte Carlo analysis (see supplementary material Appendix I SM2)	29
Figure 4.6. Environmental performance expressed as environmental intervention (EI, as annual personal share per functional unit, FU) for the case study region Spree-Neiße for (a) terrestrial acidification potential, regional and (b) terrestrial eutrophication potential, national. Results are displayed for the different N-management scenarios (Nbase = N-base scenario; Nman = N-management scenario, Ncc = N-catch crop scenario, Norg = N-organic scenario). For each scenario, the necessary reduction of background interventions (BI) is displayed (in %) if EI = 1.	32
Figure 4.7. Environmental performance expressed as environmental intervention (EI, as annual personal share per functional unit, FU) for the case study region Emsland for (a) terrestrial acidification potential, regional and (b) terrestrial eutrophication potential, national. Results are displayed for the different N-management scenarios (Nbase = N-base scenario; Nman = N-management scenario, Ncc = N-catch crop scenario, Norg = N-organic	
national. Results are displayed for the different N-management scenarios (Nbase = N-base scenario; Nman = N-management scenario, Ncc = N-catch crop scenario, Norg = N-organic	

scenario). For each scenario, the necessary reduction of background interventions (BI) is displayed (in %) if EI = 1	33
Figure 4.8. Process contribution analysis of rape seed production system for all N-	
management scenarios (Nbase = N-base scenario; Nman = N-management scenario, Ncc	
= N-catch crop scenario, Norg = N-organic scenario) and regions for terrestrial acidification	
potential, regional and terrestrial eutrophication potential, national	35

LIST OF TABLES

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

ACPS	Agricultural crop production systems
AE	Accumulated exceedance
AES	Absolute environmental sustainability
BI	Background intervention
С	Carbon
CF	Characterization factor
СМ	Characterization method
EI	Environmental intervention
GWP	Global warming potential
LCA	Life Cycle Assessment
LCIA	Life Cycle Impact Assessment
LCI	Life Cycle Inventory
MEP	Marine eutrophication potential
N/N _r	Nitrogen, reactive nitrogen
N_2O	Di-nitrogen oxide
NH ₃	Ammonia
$\mathrm{NH_4}^+$	Ammonium
NO ₃ -	Nitrate
NO _x	Nitrogen oxides
NR/ rNR	Normalization reference, regional normalization reference
NUTS	Nomenclature of Territorial Units for Statistics
Р	Phosphorus
РВ	Planetary Boundaries
PBM	Process based models
SO_2	Sulfur dioxide
SOC	Soil organic carbon
ТАР	Terrestrial acidification potential
TEP	Terrestrial eutrophication potential
UBA	Umweltbundesamt

1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 OVERVIEW

The nitrogen (N) cycle is fundamental for all living organisms. N is abundant in the atmosphere occurring mainly in its molecular form as N₂. Although covering over 78% of the earth's atmosphere, most organisms cannot use this unreactive form (Vitousek et al., 2013). Only after N fixation and thus conversion to reactive N_r, N is taken up by organisms as, e.g., ammonium or nitrate (de Vries, 2021). In pre-industrial times, lightning and biological N fixation were the main pathways for conversion to reactive N_r (Galloway et al., 2003). Nowadays, anthropogenic N fixation has increased the creation of reactive N_r and more than doubled global N_r sources (Bodirsky et al., 2014; Vitousek et al., 2013). With help of the Haber-Bosch process, the production and use of synthetic fertilizers increased, also leading to a dramatic increase in agricultural productivity (Erisman et al., 2018). Thus, agriculture became a main contributor to anthropogenic N fixation through the synthesis of industrial N fertilizers and the cultivation of crops that support biological N fixation (Vitousek et al., 2013).

Accordingly, N is essential for reaching different sustainable development goals in view of food security and nutrient management (Kanter et al., 2016). Though, not all N is taken up by crops. About 80% of N, utilized for agricultural production in fertilizers and biological N fixation, is lost to the environment (Sutton et al., 2013). Losses of reactive N_r compounds in air, soil, or water have impacts on climate change or cause environmental implications such as eutrophication or acidification of ecosystems resulting in biodiversity losses or impacts on human health (de Vries, 2021).

Although crucial for humanity, agricultural production is putting high pressure on the earth system by the transgression of multiple planetary boundaries (PB), including N-cycles, globally and regionally (Campbell et al., 2017; Gerten et al., 2020). Therefore, the challenge for agricultural production is twofold: reducing N losses from agricultural production due to fertilizer use and maintaining N efficiency for food and feed production, especially in regions where N deficits exist. This requires improving N use efficiencies by improving crop and nutrient management strategies and thus developing and appropriately applying environmental policies (Lassaletta et al., 2014).

The PB concept quantifies limits for global N input to monitor and control N fixation resulting mainly from the agricultural sector (Rockström et al., 2009; Steffen et al., 2015). However, N losses result in impacts on different spatial and temporal scales, while N pollution from the agricultural sector is resulting in, for instance, eutrophication or acidification of terrestrial systems, and is mainly a regional problem (de Vries et al., 2013; Kahiluoto et al., 2015; Schulte-Uebbing et al., 2022; Steffen et al., 2015). Accordingly, assessing the impacts of agricultural cropping systems on N-cycles requires a detailed environmental assessment considering N

boundaries. To account for the multidimensionality of the N problem, these assessments should be completed preferably on the regional level.

1.2 PROBLEM DEFINITION

Assessing environmental implications resulting from agricultural production systems and providing decision support in implementing policy strategies have long been studied using Life Cycle Assessment (LCA) (Bessou et al., 2013; Brentrup et al., 2004; Roy et al., 2009).

The results of an LCA are expressed in indicator scores for different impact categories, such as climate change, eutrophication, or ecotoxicity. Within a comparative LCA of two systems, the decision is made towards the alternative with less environmental impact expressed by results of impact categories. However, if several indicators are considered, the opposite effect may occur. In this case, a decision can only be made by argumentation or by analyzing the relevance of the environmental impacts by employing optional impact assessment components via normalization or weighting. Furthermore, LCA operates on a relative scale where the performance of a product is compared to alternative products or technologies, not considering absolute sustainability references as carrying capacities of the environment.

Conversely, due to the complexity of the N-cycle, LCA faces multiple challenges in assessing impacts resulting from agricultural crop production systems on the N-cycle:

- N affects the environment in numerous reactive forms (e.g., ammonia NH₃, nitrogen oxides NO_x, di-nitrogen oxide N₂O) that contribute to different environmental impacts depending on their temporal and spatial distribution, e.g., acidification, eutrophication on the regional or climate change on the global level.
- N emissions depend on regional biogeochemical and biogeographical conditions (soil conditions, N mineralization rate, temperature, or precipitation) and agricultural management practices (amount and type of fertilizer or tillage system).
- Eutrophication and acidification of terrestrial or aquatic ecosystems are primarily regional problems, as these environmental impacts are significantly influenced by regional conditions such as water and soil quality.
- Global N boundaries are already exceeded. Therefore, N thresholds and, thus, carrying capacities should be considered in the assessment of agricultural crop production systems, preferably on the regional level.

Accordingly, addressing these challenges, relevant requirements for a comprehensive assessment of N impacts in LCA resulting from agricultural crop production systems include regionalization and consideration of N thresholds on the regional level. Although methodological approaches for regionalized LCA applied to agricultural cropping systems already exist (Nitschelm et al., 2016; O'Keeffe et al., 2016), these may not necessarily reflect the listed challenges and the complex interaction of N compounds with the environment in LCA. Furthermore, for considering regional N thresholds and thus carrying capacity in LCA, concepts have to be identified suitable for integration in LCA as, for instance, regional reference values.

Consequently, this thesis investigates the requirements for a regional N assessment in LCA, considering regionalization of agricultural LCA and integration of carrying capacities for N on the regional level. Therefore, the main aim is to develop an approach linking these aspects in LCA and provide relevant requirements for a comprehensive N assessment.

Hence, the following research questions are raised:

- 1. How are regional nitrogen flows considered in LCA, and which methodological and practical recommendations can be drawn for a regional assessment of nitrogen in LCA?
- 2. How can nitrogen thresholds be integrated as reference values in LCA to assess the environmental performance of cropping systems considering regional nitrogen resiliencies?
- 3. How does the newly developed approach improve decision support in agricultural LCA for regional stakeholders in assessing nitrogen management measures for reducing regional nitrogen impacts?

The research questions are addressed and answered through three peer-reviewed publications presented in this thesis (chapters 2-4). The relation between the three publications is presented in chapter 5.

1.3 STRUCTURE OF THE THESIS

The overall structure of the thesis is displayed in Figure 1.1. The thesis is a cumulative research work based on three peer-reviewed publications. The introduction comprises an overview, problem definition, and the theoretical background of the topic. The theoretical background describes the method of LCA and the concept of absolute sustainability references as planetary boundaries and nitrogen thresholds for carrying capacity based assessments, building the basis of the developed approach. Chapters 2-4 contain the three research publications. By starting with a comprehensive review and identification of requirements to display N impacts in cropping systems on the regional level, the first publication is presented in chapter 2. The methodological basis, relevant steps, and data requirements for implementing regional N resilience within LCA are described in the second publication in chapter 3. The third publication evaluates and proves the developed approach by application to different N management scenarios in chapter 4. Chapter 5 summarizes and discusses the main findings, challenges, and recommendations from the developed approach and investigations. Finally, chapter 6 closes with a conclusion and outlook.



Figure 1.1: Structure of the thesis.

1.4 THEORETICAL BACKGROUND

The theoretical background of the chosen method concepts presents the basis for the newly developed approach. Herewith a brief overview of the method of LCA, the concept of planetary boundaries, and the development of regional N thresholds is presented. Furthermore, the concept of absolute sustainability references, such as carrying capacities, is introduced.

1.4.1 Life Cycle Assessment

Life Cycle Assessment (LCA) aims to analyze relevant environmental impacts caused by a product or service over its entire life cycle. This frequently used and internationally recognized method has already been largely standardized and defined in ISO standards 14040 and 14044 (ISO, 2006a, 2006b). According to these, the preparation of an LCA is carried out in four (iterative) steps: i) definition of the goal and scope of a study, ii) preparation of the life cycle inventory, iii) life cycle impact assessment, and iv) interpretation (Box 1).

Environmental implications are assessed based on the quantified emissions of a product system under study and are assigned to relevant impact categories depending on their environmental relevance. These elementary flows are then multiplied with a characterization factor (CF) relating to the relevant category indicator (e.g., N-eq.) of the chosen impact category (e.g., terrestrial eutrophication potential) (Box 2) (Hauschild and Huijbregts, 2015). The indicator scores calculated for all assigned elementary flows are then summed to the total impact score of a specific impact category. However, this does not display the magnitude of the impact or a comparison between different impact scores. Therefore, optional steps of the Life Cycle Impact Assessment (LCIA) phase, such as weighting or normalization, are suitable for interpreting impact assessment results. Furthermore, with distance-to-target approaches, impact results are weighted according to their distance from the current environmental situation to a defined target or reference value (Muhl et al., 2021). Targets may be based on environmental policy values (Muhl et al., 2021) or indicator concepts such as planetary boundaries (Bjørn and Hauschild, 2015).

Box 1: Phases of Life Cycle Assessment (LCA) according to ISO 14044/14040 (ISO, 2006a, 2006b)

I. Goal and scope

Within the first phase of LCA the goal and scope of the study is defined. The study's scope is defined by technical, spatial, and temporal system boundaries. Furthermore, the definition of a functional unit (FU), the respective reference flow, impact categories and impact assessment method is necessary (ISO, 2006a, 2006b).

II. Life Cycle Inventory (LCI)

The LCI collects information about relevant input and output flows. Inventory flows as used energy, resources, products, co-products and outputs as waste and emissions are quantified. A distinction is made between the foreground and the background system. The foreground system comprises processes of the product system specific to it, typically containing primary data, while in contrast the background system defines processes not specific to it containing secondary data as e.g. LCA databases like ecoinvent (Hauschild et al., 2018; ISO, 2006a, 2006b).

III. Life Cycle Impact Assessment (LCIA)

In the LCIA phase the environmental impacts are determined based on the LCI. For this purpose, impact categories such as eutrophication, acidification or global warming potential are selected in accordance to the goal and scope of the study and the associated characterization method and respectively LCIA method chosen. Characterization methods model the environmental cause-effect chain from the output flow of the life cycle inventory to the impact. Along the impact pathway impacts may be measured in the middle (mid-point indicator) or at the end (end-point indicator). The latter is also described as damage modelling relating to specific areas of protection as human health, natural environment and natural resources. Optional steps of the LCIA include normalization or weighting of results (Box 2) (Hauschild et al., 2018; ISO, 2006a, 2006b).

IV. Interpretation

The last phase serves for interpretation of LCI and LCIA results, building the basis for recommendations for decision makers (ISO, 2006a, 2006b).

Box 2: Glossary for relevant terms related to the Life Cycle Impact Assessment (LCIA)

Category indicator

A category indicator expresses the metrics of a specific impact (e.g. CO₂-eq. for global warming potential) and is based on a characterization model (Hauschild et al., 2018; Hauschild and Huijbregts, 2015).

Impact category

The impact category represents a class of environmental impacts to which elementary flows can be assigned, e.g. global warming potential or eutrophication potential (ISO, 2006a, 2006b).

Characterization methods/model

A characterization method (CM) calculates characterization factors of different elementary flows contributing to a specific impact category, e.g. terrestrial acidification (Roy et al., 2012a) (Humbert, 2009). Fate and transport of substances are estimated with CMs for different environmental compartments and on different spatial scales.

Characterization factor

The characterization factor (CF) is derived from a characterization method and expressed as the product of a fate factor and an optional exposure factor for midpoint characterization. Endpoint characterization includes the midpoint CF and an additional effect factor (de Haes et al., 2002).

Life Cycle Impact Assessment method

LCIA methods compile a set of different characterization methods/models for different impact categories in one LCIA method, e.g. IMPACT World+ (Bulle et al., 2019) or CML-IA (Guinée et al., 2002) (Humbert, 2009).

Normalization

The results of the different LCIA impact categories are reported in different metrics. As an optional step LCIA normalization serves to support LCA comparison by relating the LCIA results to a reference value. Typical reference values are geographical zones or population of a region, country, etc. (Hauschild et al., 2018; Hauschild and Huijbregts, 2015).

<u>Weighting</u>

The weighting step may serve to evaluate the importance of impacts in comparison between impact categories and therefore allowing prioritization. The weighting step requires prior the normalization step (Hauschild et al., 2018; Hauschild and Huijbregts, 2015).

1.4.2 The concept of planetary boundaries and regional nitrogen thresholds

The concept of planetary boundaries (PB) describes and identifies ecological stress limits of important earth system processes (Rockström et al., 2009; Steffen et al., 2015). It builds on a concept of defined global thresholds for essential earth system processes, beyond which the safe operating space for humanity is no longer guaranteed (Rockström et al., 2009). Exceeding these limits and thus leaving the safe operating space can result in sudden, sometimes irreversible damage to environment and society.

Nine biophysical systems and processes that regulate the state and resilience of the earth system using the comparatively stable interglacial Holocene (initiated 11,700 years ago) as the baseline have been defined, namely climate change, biodiversity, global nitrogen and phosphorus cycle, stratospheric ozone layer, land use change, water use, ocean acidification, aerosol pollution, and chemical pollution (Steffen et al., 2015). Four of these earth system processes were identified whose limits have already been exceeded; these included biodiversity loss, land-use change, climate change and exceedance of nitrogen and phosphorus input to the biosphere. In addition, a recent study by Wang-Erlandsson et al. (2022) also indicated the transgression of the planetary boundary for freshwater.

The initial global threshold for N has been criticized for not including spatial variations since N pollution is mainly a regional problem (de Vries et al., 2013). Therefore, a proposal to revise the concept on N was made in a study by de Vries et al. (2013). The authors proposed separate limits for the N components NH₃, NO₃⁻, and N₂O and a restriction to agriculturally intensive regions due to the spatial variability of N losses. In addition, attention was drawn to the need for regional boundaries based on carrying capacity for N inputs to be aggregated into a global value. These aspects have been considered in the revision of the PB study by Steffen et al. (2015).

Building on the approach of de Vries et al. (2013), a recent study by de Vries et al. (2021) presented regional N boundaries for EU-27. However, in contrast to the N boundaries reflected by the PB concept, the authors also considered possible increases in N inputs to reach desired agricultural yields (de Vries et al., 2021). Therefore, the required N inputs to achieve target yields (based on the year 2010) for agricultural soils and N losses from agricultural systems in the EU-27 region were calculated. The authors analyzed N inputs to agricultural soils through mineral fertilizer, animal manure, bio solids, atmospheric deposition and biological N fixation.

Based on N inputs and N losses values for critical inputs and critical losses for different N limits were derived as: i) atmospheric N deposition levels to terrestrial ecosystems based on critical loads, ii) N concentrations in runoff to surface water to limit eutrophication and iii) NO₃⁻ concentration in leachate to groundwater to avoid human health impacts (de Vries et al., 2021; de Vries and Schulte-Uebbing, 2020).

The approach developed in this thesis applies the data on critical N losses provided by de Vires based on the methodological concepts by de Vries et al. (2021) and de Vries and Schulte-Uebbing (2020).

1.4.3 Absolute sustainability references and carrying capacities in Life Cycle Assessment

The exceedance of the PBs for biogeochemical flows due to nitrogen losses is a well-recognized problem (Gerten et al., 2020; Schulte-Uebbing et al., 2022). Setting thresholds to maximum N input is necessary to conserve the resilience of these critical earth system processes. Threshold concepts are therefore necessary to identify whether a system is sustainable also in absolute terms compared to its carrying capacity. The planetary boundary concept may be interpreted as carrying capacities of the earth system, monitoring sustainability from an absolute perspective by defining clear quantitative boundaries for what the earth can withstand (Bjørn et al., 2015). An "absolute perspective" involves comparing an environmental impact caused by anthropogenic intervention in relation to regional or global carrying capacities (Bjørn et al., 2015).

Although LCA provides the link between environmental interventions and impacts, it operates on a relative scale of sustainability where the performance of a product is compared to alternative products or technologies, not considering the environment's carrying capacity.

There is an increasing research interest in integrating the concept of "resilience" by including "carrying capacities" or PBs in LCA and thus assessing absolute environmental sustainability (AES). Methodological approaches for the integration of resilience or exposure limits in LCA and, thus, the inclusion of AES indicators have been published by several authors in recent years (Bjørn et al., 2020c; Bjørn et al., 2020d; Bjørn et al., 2020a; Bjørn et al., 2016; Bjørn and Hauschild, 2015; Ryberg et al., 2016; Sala et al., 2020; Sandin et al., 2015; Tuomisto et al., 2012; Vargas-Gonzalez et al., 2019; Wolff et al., 2017). The AES assessment evaluates an anthropogenic system's absolute environmental performance according to its assigned environmental carrying capacities (Bjørn et al., 2020a).

Defining absolute sustainability thresholds for LCA, Bjørn et al. (2020a) described carrying capacities as "[...] the maximum persistent impact that the environment can sustain without suffering perceived unacceptable impairment of the functional integrity of its natural systems [...]" (Bjørn et al., 2020a).

The developed approach in this thesis is built on the idea of integrating absolute sustainability reference as regional carrying capacities for N resilience in LCA (Bjørn et al., 2020a). The regional N resilience herewith displays the carrying capacity of a region defined as the maximum persistent impact the environmental compartments in a region, affected by these impacts, can sustain, maintaining their function and structure (Bjørn et al., 2015; Walker et al., 2004). With this, instead of analyzing LCA results in a comparative assessment of two systems in relative terms, the system is compared to an absolute reference as carrying capacity or, accordingly, N resilience of a specific region.

2 NITROGEN IN LIFE CYCLE ASSESSMENT (LCA) OF AGRICULTURAL CROP PRODUCTION SYSTEMS: COMPARATIVE ANALYSIS OF REGIONALIZATION APPROACHES

This chapter contains the following publication:

I. NITROGEN IN LIFE CYCLE ASSESSMENT (LCA) OF AGRICULTURAL CROP PRODUCTION SYSTEMS: COMPARATIVE ANALYSIS OF REGIONALIZATION APPROACHES.

Wowra, K., Zeller, V., Schebek, L.

Science of The Total Environment 2021 Volume 763, 143009

DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.143009

The publication Wowra et al. (2021) contains a comprehensive review of nitrogen in Life Cycle Assessment of agricultural crop production systems. The scientific background and relevant aspects specific to nitrogen in LCA are presented and analyzed. Particular focus is laid on implications on the regional level and, thus, the relevance of regionalization in LCA. The main outcome is the derivation of key parameters relevant to a comprehensive assessment of N impacts in LCA and recommendations for LCA practitioners. Furthermore, the study highlights the relevance of integrating regional impact categories in the assessment of N-related impacts in the assessment of reference values for an improved interpretation of N-related impacts in the assessment of cropping systems in LCA.



Figure 2.1. Graphical abstract review study Wowra et al. (2021).

ABSTRACT

Assessing reactive nitrogen (N_r) flows resulting from agricultural crop production systems (ACPS) with LCA requires regionalization. However, methodological approaches for regionalized LCA of ACPS may not necessarily reflect a comprehensive picture of Nr compounds and their complex interaction with the environment. This study presents a comprehensive analysis of the consideration of N_r in methodological approaches for regionalized LCA applied to ACPS. We conducted a review comprehending scientific literature on regionalization approaches applied to ACPS and compared these with general requirements of LCA and the scientific background of the N-cycle following the LCA framework. Special focus was placed on the analysis of process-based models (PBM) and life cycle impact assessment (LCIA) methods. We derived key factors relevant for a regional assessment of N flows in LCA and compared these to 23 regionalization approaches applied to ACPS. Main obstacles identified to conduct a regionalized LCA for ACPS involved the consideration of different regional scales and thus a missing common regionalization approach suitable for ACPS. Although, N related key-factors were mainly considered by the analyzed approaches in the different LCA phases, critical points involved the consideration of N field emissions and N impact assessment. Based on these findings, practical recommendations were given. Our comprehensive review provides relevant requirements for an improved regional N assessment in regionalized LCA of ACPS and aims to present a realistic picture when comparing different alternatives considering N specific regional impacts.

Keywords: Reactive Nitrogen; Nitrogen assessment; Regionalization in LCA; LCIA methods; agricultural crop production systems

3 REGIONAL NITROGEN RESILIENCE AS DISTANCE-TO-TARGET APPROACH IN LCA OF CROP PRODUCTION SYSTEMS

This chapter contains the publication:

II. REGIONAL NITROGEN RESILIENCE AS DISTANCE-TO-TARGET APPROACH IN LCA OF CROP PRODUCTION SYSTEMS

Wowra, K., Zeller, V., Schebek, L.

Environmental Impact Assessment Review 2022, Volume 97, 106869

DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eiar.2022.106869

Based on the identified requirements for the consideration of N assessment in LCA in the first publication Wowra et al. (2021), the second publication Wowra et al. (2022b), provides the core of the thesis and the development of the distance-to-target approach. The study describes the development of the method, necessary data, and steps for the final application in LCA. The focus lies notably on the derivation of regional normalization references, which are the basis for the distance-to-target approach. The normalization references are based on values for critical N-losses on the regional level. The first proof of concept is presented for two NUTS-3 regions in Germany, Celle and Kassel for rapeseed production and three yield scenarios. Furthermore, the derived regional references are compared to already developed European references. To show sensitivity towards impact assessment and spatial differentiation, two different LCIA methods are applied.



Figure 3.1. Graphical abstract study on approach development Wowra et al. (2022b).

ABSTRACT

Agricultural production systems are highly dependent on nitrogen (N) inputs. According to assessments following the concept of Planetary Boundaries (PB), global limits for N-cycles are already exceeded. However, regional thresholds and resiliencies may vary as N compounds have implications on different spatial scales, for instance, eutrophication or acidification on the regional level. Regional N management activities may influence these environmental impacts. Thus, regional N resiliencies must be considered when assessing agricultural systems with Life Cycle Assessment (LCA). This paper provides an approach for integrating regional N resilience as distance-to-target in assessing crop production systems. Therefore, regional carrying capacity based normalization references were developed, integrating N-related thresholds for agricultural intervention based on the Life Cycle Impact Assessment (LCIA) framework. In addition, regional background interventions of non-crop production sectors were taken into account to comprehensively assess the regional environmental performances of cropping systems. Moreover, regionalization effects were assessed applying spatially differentiated characterization factors. The approach is applied to a case study for two different NUTS-3 regions in Germany, including different N management scenarios. The results showed a high influence of the integrated background intervention and regional characterization on the environmental performances of the cropping systems. N resiliencies were exceeded for all regions, when assuming high yield scenarios, for both eutrophication and acidification impacts. Finally, we present the first proof for application as additional decision support for regional stakeholders regarding N management strategies. For further development and improvement, future research should include investigations of different NUTS-3 regions, N management scenarios and emission reduction levels for background interventions

Keywords: Nitrogen assessment; Resilience; Regional thresholds; Normalization in LCA; Distanceto-target; Crop production systems

4 EVALUATION OF THE ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE OF CROPPING SYSTEMS UNDER DIFFERENT NITROGEN MANAGEMENT SCENARIOS CONSIDERING REGIONAL NITROGEN RESILIENCE

This chapter contains the publication:

III. EVALUATION OF THE ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE OF CROPPING SYSTEMS UNDER DIFFERENT NITROGEN MANAGEMENT SCENARIOS CONSIDERING REGIONAL NITROGEN RESILIENCE

Wowra, K., Zeller, V., Schebek, L.

Sustainability 2022, Volume 14 (22), 15286

DOI: https://doi.org/10.3390/su142215286

The third publication Wowra et al. (2022a), provides the proof of concept of the distance-totarget-approach introduced in Wowra et al. (2022b). The study aims to prove the applicability as decision support in agricultural LCA within five case study regions and four different N management scenarios. Furthermore, regional normalization references for all German NUTS-3 regions are derived for the two N-related impact categories, terrestrial acidification potential, and terrestrial eutrophication potential.



Figure 4.1. Graphical abstract case study Wowra et al. (2022a).

ABSTRACT

The agricultural sector is a primary driver of nitrogen (N) pollution. Several European and German policy measures exist regulating N inputs and fostering mitigation measures in crop management. Life cycle assessment (LCA) is an established tool for assessing environmental impacts which are also broadly applied for crop production systems and evaluation of N management strategies. However, due to the multiple spatial and temporal pathways of N losses from crop production, assessing N-related impacts in LCA is not straightforward. Consequently, this study further developed and applied a novel distance-to-target approach including regional carrying capacity based normalization references for N assessment in LCA. The overall aim was to prove its applicability as regional decision support for the assessment of N management strategies in cropping systems considering environmental interventions with regional N resiliencies. Therefore, environmental interventions were evaluated within a case study for four different N management scenarios for rapeseed cropping systems in five German NUTS-3 regions. Regional carrying capacity based normalization references were derived for two Nrelated impact categories: terrestrial eutrophication and terrestrial acidification. The regional normalization references also included background interventions of non-crop producing sectors and were provided for all German NUTS-3 regions applicable as distance-to-target values in LCA. Overall results showed that environmental interventions and exceedance of N resilience were lowest in the N management scenario applying catch crops for both impact categories. The case study demonstrated that considering absolute sustainability references as regional N resilience in LCA is a valuable tool for agricultural decision-makers to evaluate N management strategies for crop production systems.

Keywords: Nitrogen management; Crop production systems; Nitrogen resilience; Normalization in LCA; Distance-to-target

4.1 INTRODUCTION

Nitrogen (N) is an essential nutrient for agricultural activities necessary for food and feed security. Growing demand for food is followed by agricultural intensification, increasing N fertilizer and land use coming at high environmental costs (Chen et al., 2014; Erisman et al., 2013; Foley et al., 2011). However, not all N is taken up by crops. About 80% of N, utilized for agricultural production in fertilizers and biological N fixation, is lost to the environment (Sutton et al., 2013). Consequently, higher N inputs result in losses of reactive N compounds such as nitrous oxides (N₂O), ammonia (NH₃) or nitrate (NO₃⁻), leading to adverse environmental impacts such as climate change, eutrophication or acidification of ecosystems and threatening human health (Bodirsky et al., 2014; Bouwman et al., 2013; Tian et al., 2020). Furthermore, the extent to which N accumulation has already occurred is made visible by the exceedance of planetary boundaries biogeochemical N-cycles (de Vries et al., 2013; Erisman et al., 2015; Rockström et al., 2009; Salomon et al., 2016; Steffen et al., 2015; Sutton et al., 2013).

Since N fertilizers are one of the largest N inputs resulting from agricultural activities, sustainable N management aiming to reduce N inputs and increase N use efficiencies is vital (Sutton et al., 2013). In practice, N management strategies such as improving N fertilizer timing and placement, matching N fertilizer application rate to crop requirements, or using catch crops and reduced tillage may reduce N losses (Döhler et al., 2011; Schütze and Geupel, 2011). Multiple policies and strategies have been introduced at the European and the German level to implement these measures. A central part of the European Green Deal is the Farm to Fork Strategy, which aims to reduce 50% nutrient losses like N and P, leading to fertilizer reductions of 20% by 2030. In Germany, the Fertilizer Ordinance (in German Düngeverordnung - DüV), as a key agricultural and environmental policy instrument, aims to reduce and regulate the use of mineral and organic fertilizers on farms and thus the input of N emissions from agricultural production systems to terrestrial and aquatic ecosystems (BMEL, 2021). However, recommendations about suitable N management strategies to achieve necessary reduction targets depend on regional conditions as different N mineralization (Nmin) rates, yield requirements or other biogeographical aspects (Olfs et al., 2005). Hence, identifying the impact of N management strategies of cropping systems requires a detailed assessment on the regional level to address the effects of the diverse environmental impacts.

A well-established method for determining the environmental impacts of crop production systems and decision support is Life Cycle Assessment (LCA). LCA serves as a support tool for implementing policy strategies such as the Farm to Fork strategy (Sala et al., 2021) and can provide an added value in evaluating and monitoring N reduction measures as, e.g. proposed by the German Fertilizer Ordinance. However, assessing the impacts of N losses resulting from agricultural production systems and considering different management strategies is not straightforward due to the multiple spatial and temporal N pathways.

The relevance of regionalization in LCA to cover N-related impacts such as eutrophication and acidification of terrestrial and freshwater systems is widely acknowledged (Patouillard et al., 2018; Potting et al., 1998; Yang and Heijungs, 2017) and well established in standard Life Cycle Impact Assessment (LCIA) methods (Norris, 2002; Potting et al., 1998; Roy et al., 2014; Roy et
al., 2013; Roy et al., 2012a; Seppälä et al., 2006). Hence, it also plays a crucial role in agricultural LCA. However, standard LCA allows for a comparative assessment of alternative crop management systems, for example, but it does not express sustainability in absolute terms (Bjørn et al., 2020b). Therefore, the environmental performance of cropping systems in relation to absolute boundaries, such as carrying capacities, is not covered (Wowra et al., 2021).

Approaches studying absolute environmental sustainability (AES) in LCA exist with the planetary boundary concept, where a reference is integrated with, e.g., characterization factors (CF) (Bjørn et al., 2020c; Bjørn et al., 2020b; Ryberg et al., 2018; Ryberg et al., 2016) or applied as normalization reference (NR) (Bjørn and Hauschild, 2015). Normalization is an optional part of the Life Cycle Impact Assessment (LCIA) and is defined as "calculating the magnitude of category indicator results relative to reference information" (ISO, 2006b). Therefore, it can play a valuable role in facilitating the interpretation and communication of results to decision-makers (Pizzol et al., 2017). Furthermore, the integration of normalization references based on carrying capacities for ecological thresholds may improve the assessment of, for instance, management strategies of cropping systems by an interpretation in absolute terms.

In a recent study by Wowra et al. (2022b), the authors developed an approach to determine regional carrying capacity based normalization references for N assessment in LCA. The references are applied as distance-to-target values to assess the impacts of crop production systems on regional N resilience, contributing to terrestrial acidification and terrestrial eutrophication impacts. The regional N resilience herewith displays the carrying capacity of a region defined as the maximum persistent impact that the environmental compartments in a region, affected by these impacts, can sustain while maintaining their function and structure (Bjørn et al., 2015; Walker et al., 2004). The study by Wowra et al. (2022b) revealed that the environmental performance of cropping systems in terms of N resilience might differ regionally and concluded that it is necessary to also consider current N-related background interventions of non-crop producing sectors. However, the study did not evaluate the influence of different N management strategies based on policy measures and their impacts on regional N resilience.

Consequently, this study aims to evaluate different N management scenarios affecting N resilience by further developing and applying regional carrying capacity based normalization references as distance-to-target values in LCA. The scenarios are based on policy measurements of the German Fertilizer Ordinance applied to rapeseed cropping systems for five case study regions. Furthermore, for all German regions on NUTS-3 level (smallest regional division in Eurostat's Nomenclature of Territorial Units for Statistics), values for regional normalization references and background interventions of non-crop producing sectors contributing to acidification and eutrophication impacts were derived. The overall aim of the study is to evaluate the applicability of a newly developed approach for assessing policy reduction measures and N management strategies by considering regional N resilience in LCA. Therefore, regional differences in N management options and reduction potentials for minimizing impacts on regional N resilience will be identified.

Herewith, the improved decision support for agricultural stakeholders on the regional level for a wide range of research questions in the evaluation of cropping systems shall be proven.

4.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS

The study's main goal was to comprehensively assess the environmental intervention considering regional N resilience of rapeseed production systems in five different case study regions. Therefore, the environmental performance for four N management scenarios was assessed by combining LCA and a recently developed distance-to-target approach (Wowra et al., 2022b). An attributional LCA is applied following ISO 14040/44 (ISO, 2006a, 2006b). The study focused on regional N-related impacts of terrestrial acidification potential (TAP) and terrestrial eutrophication potential (TEP). The distance-to-target approach applies regional carrying capacity based normalization references (rNR) for N-related impact categories and considers background interventions (BI) of non-crop producing sectors in NUTS-3 regions. For the application of the approach, three steps have to be undertaken: first, the calculation of Nrelated background interventions of non-crop producing sectors; secondly, the definition of Nrelated thresholds; and based on these, in a third step, the derivation of carrying capacity based normalization references. A detailed description of each step, background data, and data sources is provided by Wowra et al. (2022b). The subsequent sections briefly describe the steps required for assessing the environmental performance of the cropping systems with the distance-to-target approach, the case study design, and each life cycle phase.

4.2.1 Distance-to-target approach for assessing the environmental performance

The relevant steps for assessing the environmental performance and derivation of the relevant parameters are the following:

1. Calculation of background interventions (BI).

Based on data for air pollutant emissions of the German Environment Agency (Umweltbundesamt) (Schneider et al., 2016), background interventions of non-crop production sectors are calculated for N emissions contributing to acidification and eutrophication impacts. The background interventions are aggregated on a NUTS-3 level and derived for TAP and TEP impact categories.

2. Definition of regional N-related thresholds.

The calculation of regional thresholds is based on data for critical N losses for German NUTS-3 regions provided by De Vries based on de Vries and Schulte-Uebbing (2020) and de Vries et al. (2021). The thresholds are derived from values for the critical loss of NH_3 emissions leading to critical N deposition, depending on the ecosystem's critical load (de Vries et al., 2021). These values are used as thresholds for TAP and TEP midpoint impact categories.

3. Derivation of regional carrying capacity based normalization reference (rNR).

The regional normalization references (rNR) are based on the derived regional N-related thresholds. According to an equal per capita sharing principle, the threshold for a specific NUTS-3 region j and impact category i is related to the number of persons (pers) P living in the region j as described in equation (1).

$$rNR_{i,j} = \frac{Threshold_{i,j}}{P_j} \tag{1}$$

The indicator rNR does not consider background interventions related to non-crop producing sectors in a specific region. Therefore, the background intervention BI of an impact i in a region j is subtracted from the rNR as shown in equation (2),

$$rNR_{BI_{i,j}} = rNR_{i,j} - BI_{i,j}$$
⁽²⁾

where, the indicator rNRBI is defined as the regional normalization reference of a specific region j, contributing to an impact category i and considering the background intervention (BI) of non-crop producing sectors expressed in pers/year.

4. Assessment of the environmental performance.

After completing steps 1 to 3, the environmental performance is assessed for the defined scenarios of the crop production system using the indicator rNR_{BI}. This is applied as a distance-to-target value to an impact *I* resulting from an LCIA category *i*. Thus, the environmental performance is described as the environmental intervention (EI) namely, the specific personal share (in pers/year) of a cropping system's impact *I* to the N resilience (rNR_{BI}) in a region *j* contributing to an impact category *I* – as shown in equation (3). If the EI results in a value above 1, the EI of the environmental performance of the respective cropping system is assessed as "unsustainable" since it exceeds regional N resilience.

$$EI = \frac{I_i}{r N R_{BI_{i,j}}} \tag{3}$$

All parameters are derived for each NUTS-3 region in Germany and include an impact characterization focusing on TAP and TEP impacts. To assess the TAP, we applied the IMPACT World+ (Bulle et al., 2019) method using characterization factors (CF) on regional levels. For TEP, we applied the Environmental Footprint (EF) method (reference package 2.0) (Fazio et al., 2018; Sala et al., 2019) using CF on the national level since no finer scale of CF is available.

4.2.2 Case Study Regions

The case study regions are related to German NUTS-3 regions. First, background interventions of non-crop producing sectors were derived for all German NUTS-3 regions contributing to terrestrial eutrophication and terrestrial acidification impacts. Five case study regions were selected based on the following criteria:

- i. NUTS-3 region with the highest background intervention affecting TAP;
- ii. NUTS-3 region with the highest background intervention affecting TEP;

iii. NUTS-3 region with the largest share of agricultural area.

iv. In addition, for comparability, two regions were selected, representing average population and agricultural area.

Accordingly, the following regions were further assessed:

1. Emsland (DE949), located in Lower Saxony, North West Germany;

2. Mecklenburgische Seenplatte (DE80J) located in Mecklenburg-Western Pomerania, North-East Germany;

3. Kassel (DE734), located in Hesse, Mid-West-Germany;

4. Spree-Neiße (DE40G), located in Brandenburg, East-Germany and

5. Ansbach (DE256), located in Bavaria, South Germany.

Table 4.1 shows the main characteristics of the regions and the related criteria.

Name and NUTS identification	Emsland (DE949)	Mecklenburgische Seenplatte (DE80J)	Kassel (DE734)	Spree-Neiße (DE40G)	Ansbach (DE256)
Region	Lower Saxony	Mecklenburg- Western Pomerania	Hesse	Brandenburg	Bavaria
Population (amount) ^{a)}	325,657	259,130	236,633	114,429	183,949
Total land area (in ha)	288,366	549,560	129,333	165,698	197,133
Agricultural area (in ha) ^{b)}	174,440	316,597	57,704	57,942	111,284
Soil characteristics ^c	Para-brown earths, Pseudogley characterized by periodically stagnated surface water, Soils are mainly sand to loamy sands, poor to moderate in nutrients, well- drained	Pseudogley and Para-brown earths with loamy sands to sandy loam structure, moderate nutrient demand	Para-brown earths, Podzolic brown earths, with clay slit to slit clay textures, good water and nutrient capacity	Podzolic brown earths, parabrown earths, with mainly sand to loamy sand structure, dry and excessively drained, acidic and nutrient- poor	Podzol-brown earths with slit- clay to clay sand texture, moderate nutrients, well- drained
Clay amount (in%) ^{c)}	0 – 8	5 – 12; 8 – 17	17 – 30; 8 – 17	0 - 8	25 – 45; 8 – 17
Precipitation (average in mm) ^{d)}	~782	~530	~622	~603	~625
Related criteria selection	iii	ii	iv	i	iv

Table 4.1. Case study regions and biogeographical characteristics.

^{a)}(DeStatis, 2018b); ^{b)}(DeStatis, 2018a); ^{c)}(Düwel et al., 2007); ^{d)}(Wetterkontor.de, 2020)

4.2.3 Goal, scope and functional unit

Figure 4.2 shows the considered system boundary comprising all relevant process steps of the fore- and background system from cradle-to-farm-gate. The system included the agricultural production of rapeseed until its provision as raw material. The analysis focused on the vegetation period of rapeseed production, assuming winter barley as the previous crop, including catch-crop cultivation (if applied), sowing of rapeseed, and the harvest, but not including further crop rotations. The functional unit (FU) describes the management of 1 hectare of arable land indicated for rapeseed within a NUTS-3 region. Data for background processes were based on the ecoinvent database v.3.5 (cut-off) (ecoinvent association, 2018).



Figure 4.2. System boundary and considered processes for LCA of rapeseed production systems for a NUTS-3 region. The dotted lines show optional process steps depending on the scenario considered.

4.2.4 Life Cycle Inventory and assumptions

4.2.4.1 Nitrogen management scenarios and effects of nitrogen reducing management

One of the most important measures to reduce N emissions within the German Fertilizer Ordinance is a binding N demand analysis to determine fertilization requirements (BMEL, 2021; LLH, 2021a). According to a defined procedure, farmers must calculate the specific N requirement depending on parameters influencing the requirement of the respective cultivated crop.

For the case study assessment, four different N management or reduction scenarios were defined on the basis of neglecting or considering the N demand analysis and applying different N mitigation options:

N-base scenario: This scenario does not include an N demand analysis, and potential yields are based on general recommendations of the German fertilizer ordinance.

N-management: In this scenario, the fertilizer amount is determined according to the N demand analysis, and the considered yields are based on the region's three-year

average. Furthermore, soil humus content is considered, and no further N mitigation options are included.

N-catch crop: The calculated fertilizer amount is determined according to the N demand analysis, and considered yields are based on the region's three-year average. The cultivation of a catch crop as an N reduction option is assumed.

N-organic: This scenario applies the same measurement as the N-catch crop. In addition, it is assumed that the crop production system proportionally replaces its mineral fertilizer quantity by importing organic fertilizers (liquid manure). Thus, it also accounts for the organic fertilizer application of the previous year.

As further N reduction management, we considered specific characteristics such as low tillage soil cultivation technique for all scenarios and N reducing application technique for manure. We included data based on regional agricultural statistics for each region to derive values for yields, N mineralization (Nmin) in soil, and applied fertilizer types. Table 4.2 lists all relevant scenario parameters and considered values of the respective regions.

4.2.4.2 Consideration of direct and indirect emissions

We applied an emission factor based approach to quantify direct and indirect field emissions, including data on the regional NUTS-3 level where possible. N₂O emissions were estimated according to the Tier 1 approach of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC, 2006) as proposed in Nemecek et al. (2016). In addition, we calculated the amount of leached N that leads to indirect N_2O emissions (Rösemann et al., 2021). Losses of ammonia (NH₃) from mineral nitrogen (Audsley et al., 1997) fertilizers were calculated according to the Tier 2 approach and emission factors provided by the EEA (2019). We calculated emissions for mineral fertilizers considering: calcium ammonium nitrate (CAN), urea ammonia nitrate (UAN) and urea. Furthermore, NMVOC emissions were calculated based on the Tier 2 methodology described in (EEA, 2019). Nutrient losses via leaching were considered for nitrate (NO₃) (Emmenegger et al., 2009) and leaching and run-off of phosphorus (P_2O_5) (Nemecek et al., 2007). According to the Guidance for the development of Product Environmental Footprint Category Rules provided by European Commission (2017), emissions of pesticides, fungicides, and insecticides were estimated. We also calculated nitrogen and phosphor emissions from manure application for the N-organic scenario. We assumed the application with a trailing shoe and an immediate (<4 hours) incorporation of manure (Rösemann et al., 2021).

4.2.5 Life Cycle Impact Assessment

The life cycle impact assessment was carried out using the LCIA methods Environmental Footprint method (reference package 2.0) (Fazio et al., 2018; Sala et al., 2019) and IMPACT World+ (Bulle et al., 2019). Regional CFs were applied for TAP calculated with IMPACT World+.

4.2.6 Sensitivity and uncertainty analysis

Sensitivity and uncertainty analysis of the developed normalization references, chosen LCIA methods, and life cycle inventory (LCI) input parameters were done to test the influence of the assumptions made (Rosenbaum et al., 2018). Therefore, the uncertainty of the developed indicator rNR_{BI} was assessed across all NUTS-3 regions with a quantitative uncertainty approach. Furthermore, to account for the sensitivity of spatial variability for the TAP category, regional normalization references and background interventions were additionally calculated with the national CF of IMPACT World+ and the EF method (reference package 2.0) (Fazio et al., 2018; Sala et al., 2019).

Uncertainty analysis of LCI input parameters was done to evaluate statistical significance. However, a complete statistical significance analysis could not be conducted since uncertainty of all parameters is unknown. Therefore, only the most sensitive input parameters for agricultural LCI calculation, namely Nmin values and agricultural yields, were taken into account due to their high spatial variability and dependency on biogeographical conditions (Nemecek et al., 2005). Both parameters define fertilization requirements. Monte Carlo simulations were carried out to account for these uncertainties, including 1000 iterations for all scenarios and regions and two LCIA methods. Since yield variabilities are already considered in the different scenarios, only the parameter Nmin was varied. We considered a standard deviation of 10% and log-normal distribution. Results of the sensitivity and uncertainty analysis are provided in detail in the supplementary material Appendix I SM2.

enario; Nmin	= N-mir	heralizat	ion in s(oil; CAN	= Caldt	um amn	in Binor	trate; U,	AN = ur	ea amm	ionium r	litrate).								
		Anst	ach			Spree-	-Neiße			Kas	isel		Μ	ecklenb Seenp	ourgisch	e		Ems	land	
	N hased	N nem	z t	N Org	N hace	N UBM	z S	N Drg	N ha ce	N nem	z t	N Org	N hase	N N	z S	N org	N hase	N nem	z S	N Ord
Yield potential	high	3-y(ear aver middle	age	high	3-y	ear aver middle	age	high	3-y	ear aver middle	age	high	3-ye	ear avera middle	age	high	3-ye	ear aver middle	age
Yield rapeseed [tha ⁻¹]	4	3.55	3.55	3.55	4	1.74	1.74	1.74	4	3.29	3.29	3.29	4	4.04	4.04	4.04	4	3.21	3.21	3.21
Yield dependent N demand ^{a)} [kg Nha ⁻¹]	200	187	187	187	200	132	132	132	200	179	179	179	200	201	201	201	200	176	176	176
Nmin [kg NO ₃ . Nha ⁻¹]		4	68			18	Ū.			32	Ŋ			۲ L) (II			35	0	
N demand [-Nmin kg Nha ⁻¹]	156	143	143	143	182	114	114	114	168	147	147	147	193	194	194	194	165	141	141	141
Catch crop [minus 40 kg Nha ⁻¹] ^{b)}		,	>	>			>	>		ı	>	>	ı		>	>	ı	,	>	>
Organic fertilizer previous year [minus 5.4 kg Nha ⁻¹]	I	ı	I	>	ı	ı	ı	>	I	ı	I	>	ı	ı	ı	>	1	I	ı	>
Humus amount more than 4% [minus 20 kg Nha ⁻¹] ^{c)}	I	>	>	>	ı	ı	ı	I	I	>	>	>	ı	1	ı	1	ı	I	ı	>

Continuation Ta Emsland. Unles: N-organic scena	able 4.2. s N-base, irio; Nmir	Scenario all scena n = N-mii	paramo arios are neraliza	eters ar e based ition in	nd calcu on a N soil; CA	lated va deman N = Calo	alues foi d analys cium arr	r LCI ba is. (Nba imonia	se for th ise = N-b nitrate; l	e NUTS- ase scer UAN = u	-3 region 1ario; Nn 1rea amr	ıs, Ansba nan = N-ı nonium ı	ch, Spre manager nitrate).	e-Neiße, nent sce	Kassel, nario, N	Meckle lcc = N-	nburgis catch cr	che Seer op scen	ario, No	and rg =
		Ansł	ach			Spre	e-Neiße				Kassel			Mecklen Seen	burgiscl platte	he		Emsla	put	
	Z	Z	Z	z	N		Z	Z	N		N	Z	N	z	Z	z	z	z	z	z
	base	man	cc	org	bas	e m	ian o	cc or	g bas	e m	ian c	c or	g base	e man	cc	org	base	man	သ	org
Fertilization																				
N-requirement for fertilization	156	5 123	83	77.6	18:	2 114	74	68	6 16	8 127	87	81.6	193	194	154	148	165	141	101	95.6
[kg Nha ⁻¹]																				
Fertilization																				
Mineral																				
fertilizer																				
[kg Nha ⁻¹] ^{d)}																				
CAN	76	60	41	22	91	57	37	18	146	110	76	43	33	34 2	26 2	20 4	9 42	2 30	1	[9
UAN	З	3	2	1	46	28	19	6	7	9	ю	2	17	17]	4	0 3	1 27	7 19	-	[2
Urea	77	60	40	22	45	29	18	6	15	11	8	4	143 1	43 1	14 8	36 8	5 72	2 52		32
Liquid																				
manure			,	32.4				32.4				32.4			ŝ	2.4			м.	2.4
[kg Nha ⁻¹] ^{e)}																				
Mineral N	י 1 דה	1 7 3	22	ן ר ט	187	114	77	36 7	168	197	87	10	103 1	1 1	г 1	16 1/	л 1 л	101	ۍ ۲	6 6
[kg N ha ⁻¹]		071	5	3.01	701	LTT	+	3.00	001	171	10	ŕ		T T T	- -			от т.	5	3
^{a)} according to Fe	rtilizer Or	dinance ∠	t ha ⁻¹ (B	MEL, 20	(21); ^{b)} y	ield shar	te legume	es > 20-4	40% (LLF	I, 2021a)); ^{c)} humu	s amount	based on	(Düwel	et al., 20	07); ^{d)} ra	atio for e	ach regio	n based	on
(Destatis, 2020); Agrarheratung Gi	e) applicat nhH. 2021	CL TO HOU SLI) (II :(ш ^{-,} 3.6 К V. 2021)	g total I : °) (I.W	N (LLLH, . K Nieder	zuzia); sachsen.	" (BLS, 2 2021)	021); %	(LIL, 202	L); "' (SE	8B, 2021)	; " (нын,	ZUZI); U	(HSL, 20	ZT); ∾ (L	ТН, 202	TD); " ((L	alv-mv, z	(TZU); m	(LINIS
			()) () () () () () () () () (ļ		(

4.3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

4.3.1 Current background interventions and regional normalization references

Figure 4.3 shows the background intervention for all German NUTS-3 regions for the impact categories TAP and TEP of non-crop producing sectors displaying their share in relation to the highest interventions. The main share of the regions is distributed within lower background interventions for TAP impacts, whereas for TEP, the regions' background interventions are mainly distributed within a share of more than 25% of the highest background intervention. Emissions contributing to the N-related background interventions of non-crop producing sectors are NO_x emissions from the public energy sector or transportation and NH₃ emissions from the livestock sector. Both compounds cause acidification and eutrophication impacts. Regions with the highest background intervention contributing to TEP are located in the northwestern part of Germany. The reason is the high importance of the livestock sector in these regions. Consequently, their NH₃ emissions contribute considerably to the background interventions (Schneider et al., 2016). The region with the highest background intervention contributing to TAP and TEP is Spree-Neiße, located in the eastern part of Germany. Here, in contrast, the high background intervention results from NO_x emissions from the public power sector due to the location of a large-scale lignite power plant (Bundesnetzagentur, 2021).

Based on evaluations of the background interventions, the case study regions were chosen as described in section 4.2.2. The results of the derivation of regional normalization references (rNR), background interventions (BI) and the resulting regional normalization references considering BI (rNR_{BI}) are listed in the supplementary material Appendix I SM1. The values for the five case study regions are shown in Figure 4.3. The uncertainty analysis revealed that rNR and BI values are similar for most regions, meaning rNR_{BI} is predominantly positive and nearly evenly distributed around zero (see supplementary material Appendix I SM2). However, if the rNR is lower than current background interventions, rNR_{BI} may result in negative values, as in the case of Emsland and Spree-Neiße for eutrophication impacts. The same holds for Spree-Neiße for acidification impacts. In fact, if background interventions of the non-crop producing sectors are considered, the calculated regional rNR_{BI} values vary between minus 25% to more than minus 600% (Figure 4.3). This underpins the relevance of considering N-related background interventions in developing regional carrying capacity based normalization references. Likewise, based on this information, possible reduction levels and strategies for regions with high background interventions may be elaborated.



Figure 4.3. Background intervention in Germany for the impact categories terrestrial acidification potential, regional and terrestrial eutrophication potential, national. The intervention of NUTS-3 regions is shown as a share of distribution from low to high.

		rNR	BI	rNR _{BI}	
	Ansbach (DE256)	0.31	0.21	0.10	
	Spree-Neiße (DE40G)	0.29	1.84	-1.55	
TAP regional (kg SO _{2eq/pers/year})	Kassel (DE734)	0.17	0.08	0.09	- 0%
	Mecklenburgische Seenplatte (DE80J)	0.33	0.09	0.25	— -50%
	Emsland (DE949)	0.02	0.02	0.00	
	Ansbach (DE256)	274.59	194.39	80.21	— −150% e
	Spree-Neiße (DE40G)	313.86	800.69	-486.83	
TEP national (mole N _{eg/pers/year})	Kassel (DE734)	180.0 4	82.96	97.09	
	Mecklenburgische Seenplatte (DE80J)	410.43	101.57	308.86	
	Emsland (DE949)	416.83	446.27	-29.45	_

Figure 4.4. Regional normalization reference (rNR), background intervention (BI) and regional normalization references considering background interventions (rNR_{BI}) for the five case study regions for terrestrial acidification potential, TAP and terrestrial eutrophication potential, TEP. Relative differences from rNR for the resulting rNR_{BI} are shown in color.

4.3.2 Environmental performance of rapeseed production systems

4.3.2.1 Regional differences in nitrogen management scenarios

The results of the environmental performance analysis of the N management scenarios for TAP and TEP impacts are presented in Figure 4.5 for the three case study regions, Ansbach, Kassel and Mecklenburgische Seenplatte and in Figure 4.6 for the other two regions Spree-Neiße and Emsland. As indicated in Figure 4.4, Spree-Neiße and Emsland showed higher background intervention than normalization references. Therefore, separate analyses including reduction of background interventions, have been carried out.

Comparing the three case studies in Ansbach, Kassel and Mecklenburgische Seenplatte, Kassel showed the lowest environmental intervention and Ansbach the highest (Figure 4.5). In all N-base scenarios, environmental interventions (EI) exceeded regional N resilience for TEP impacts, whereas for TAP impacts, this was only the case for Ansbach and Mecklenburgische Seenplatte. We generally observed a decrease in EI from the N-base to the N-catch crop scenario for all N scenarios. The highest decrease appeared for the Ansbach region, with a more than 40% reduction of EI from the N-base to the N-catch crop scenario. Due to the application of catch crops, lower mineral fertilizer amounts are necessary, leading to lower environmental intervention.



Terrestrial eutrophication potential, national



Figure 4.5. Environmental performance expressed as environmental intervention (EI, as annual personal share per functional unit, FU) of the case study regions Ansbach, Kassel and Mecklenburgische Seenplatte for (a) terrestrial acidification potential, regional and (b) terrestrial eutrophication potential, national. Results are displayed for the different N-management scenarios (Nbase = N-base scenario; Nman = N-management scenario, Ncc = N-catch crop scenario, Norg = N-organic scenario). Error bars represent 95% probability range based on Monte Carlo analysis (see supplementary material Appendix I SM2).

For all three regions depicted in Figure 4.5, the lowest reduction of EI compared to the N-base scenario is observed for the N-management scenario. This lies notably in the fact that only the basic measurements of implementing and calculating fertilizer requirements according to the Fertilizer Ordinance were applied, and no further measurements were considered. Only for the region Kassel the N-base scenario remain under current background interventions in the sustainable area, resulting from high yields in the region and low background interventions (Figure 4.5). The region Mecklenburgische Seenplatte showed a minor influence amongst the different management scenarios, with a reduction of only 18% between the N-base and the N-catch crop scenario compared to the other regions, and no reduction from N-base to N-management. High yield assumptions based on a three-year average were the main reason. Moreover, although in Mecklenburgische Seenplatte, N-input assumptions were also highest amongst the regions due to high yields and low assumed Nmin in the soil, the environmental interventions only slightly exceeded regional N resilience, e.g., in the base scenario with EI=1.1

pers/year. A primary reason for this was, as in the case of Kassel, the low background interventions in this region (Figure 4.4). The uncertainty analysis of the LCI inventory revealed that the differences between all scenarios and regions based on the 95% confidence interval were deemed significant. The highest uncertainty was observed for the Ansbach region as displayed in the larger 95% probability range in Figures 4a and 4b (see Appendix I supplementary material SM2).

We assumed the background intervention for the non-agricultural sectors to remain static. However, background interventions are higher for some regions than the calculated rNR. This means that none of the agricultural management scenarios would perform environmentally friendly without reduction from these sectors in view of regional N resiliencies. Therefore, to achieve an equal share amongst the non-crop and the crop-producing sectors, we likewise assessed the necessary reductions in non-crop producing sectors by setting the EI = 1. The environmental performance assuming environmental interventions resulting in EI = 1 are shown in Figure 4.6 (a,b) for the Spree-Neiße region, and in Figure 4.7 (a,b) for Emsland. We highlighted these regions for demonstration due to their negative rNR_{BI} values. Results of the necessary reduction levels for the remaining regions are displayed in the supplementary material Appendix I SM1.

None of the scenarios in the Spree-Neiße and Emsland regions exceeded the regional N resilience for either impact categories if the target EI = 1 was set for N-base. The highest necessary reduction (-173%) of background interventions resulting from non-crop producing sectors is for Emsland for TAP impacts. The lowest reduction (-43%) of background intervention is displayed for TEP impacts in the region Emsland, if the minimum set of EI = 1for the N-catch crop scenario is fulfilled. The N-catch crop scenario showed the best overall performance compared to the other regions. By contrast, in the Emsland region the N-organic scenario revealed the lowest environmental intervention in the case of TAP impacts (Figure 4.7a). In this case, a reduction of up to 26% was achieved by applying the N-organic scenario. When comparing all N-scenarios within the Spree-Neiße region, it can be noted that the reductions in environmental interventions were highest between the N-base and the other scenarios. For instance, EI leading to TEP impacts decreased by 55% and for TAP by 54% from N-base to N-catch crop (Figure 4.6 (a,b)). Since the three-year average yield was lowest for Spree-Neiße, applying demand specific N fertilization based on the N demand analysis resulted in the highest reduction of environmental intervention. Thus, the application of region specific N measures was thereby demonstrated to reduce EI.

In general terms, the cultivation of catch crops is the most recommended option for reducing overall N impacts in all regions, with the highest reduction potential of more than 40% in Ansbach (Figure 4.5) and Spree-Neiße (Figure 4.6) compared to the base scenario. Using catch crops significantly impacts N availability in soil, reducing the necessary mineral N fertilizer amount. Several LCA studies analyzing crop production systems have also reported the positive impact of catch crops reducing environmental intervention (Câmara-Salim et al., 2021; Knudsen et al., 2014; Nemecek et al., 2011a; Nemecek et al., 2011b). Although catch crop cultivation was also assumed in the N-organic scenario, and the amount of mineral fertilizer applied was the lowest amongst all management scenarios, this option was observed to be the

best solely for the region Emsland, given TAP impacts (Figure 4.7a). In Kassel, for instance, the N-organic scenario performed worst. This lies notably in the combination of low background interventions, high Nmin amounts, medium yield potential, and lower N fertilizer requirements compared to the other regions. Furthermore, the share of urea fertilizer in mineral N fertilizer application in Kassel was lower than in other regions. Urea has a higher emission factor than other N fertilizers (Rösemann et al., 2021). Therefore, the NH₃ emission from organic fertilizer application caused higher environmental interventions in the N-organic scenario in Kassel than in the other N scenarios, where the overall impact was lower due to fewer NH₃ emissions.

A pattern between the regions can be observed comparing TAP and TEP results. TEP impact results were nearly similar (Mecklenburgische Seenplatte and Spree-Neiße) or slightly higher (Ansbach, Kassel and Emsland) than TAP for EI. This is due to the fact that the same critical N-thresholds for deriving regional normalization references were assumed for both impact categories (Wowra et al., 2022b). The thresholds are derived from values for the critical loss of NH₃ emissions leading to critical N deposition, depending on the ecosystem's critical load (de Vries et al., 2021).

The assessed environmental interventions result from background intervention, regional parameters such as yields and fertilizer input, and impact characterization. For instance, although N inputs were lower in Ansbach compared to other regions, the EI was higher. This is explained by the combination of high background intervention and the calculated normalization references, resulting in a low rNR_{BI} . The smaller rNR and rNR_{BI} values arise within LCIA normalization in higher environmental intervention.

Spree-Neiße D40G Terrestrial acidification potential regional



(a)





(b)

Figure 4.6. Environmental performance expressed as environmental intervention (EI, as annual personal share per functional unit, FU) for the case study region Spree-Neiße for (a) terrestrial acidification potential, regional and (b) terrestrial eutrophication potential, national. Results are displayed for the different N-management scenarios (Nbase = N-base scenario; Nman = N-management scenario, Ncc = N-catch crop scenario, Norg = N-organic scenario). For each scenario, the necessary reduction of background interventions (BI) is displayed (in %) if EI = 1.

Emsland DE949 Terrestrial acidification potential regional



(a)

Emsland DE949 Terrestrial eutrophication potential national



(b)

Figure 4.7. Environmental performance expressed as environmental intervention (EI, as annual personal share per functional unit, FU) for the case study region Emsland for (a) terrestrial acidification potential, regional and (b) terrestrial eutrophication potential, national. Results are displayed for the different N-management scenarios (Nbase = N-base scenario; Nman = N-management scenario, Ncc = N-catch crop scenario, Norg = N-organic scenario). For each scenario, the necessary reduction of background interventions (BI) is displayed (in %) if EI = 1.

4.3.2.2 Contribution of agricultural processes in N-management scenarios

Figure 4.8 displays the contribution of agricultural activities to each scenario and, thus, environmental intervention to the depicted impact categories TAP and TEP. In both impact categories, fertilizer application, including field emission, contributed mainly to TAP and TEP impacts. These results correspond with previous studies showing that due to large amounts of mineral fertilizer applications, field emissions are the main contributor to TAP (Bacenetti et al., 2014; González-García et al., 2021; Noya et al., 2015) and TEP impacts on rapeseed production systems (Mousavi-Avval et al., 2017). Furthermore, all regions, besides Kassel, have a share of more than 25% urea in mineral fertilizer use (see Table 4.2). As indicated earlier, urea has the highest emission factor corresponding to NH₃ emissions. Therefore, for both TAP and TEP combined impacts, Kassel showed the lowest emission contributions from mineral fertilizer application.

Regional differences could be observed for Emsland, where impacts from mineral fertilizer application were lowest compared to the other regions for TAP impacts. This is by reason of, firstly, a lower fertilizer application and, secondly, the use of regional CFs, which in Emsland resulted in a reduced impact of the field emissions. In this case, the choice of spatial level influenced the results, as also shown by the sensitivity results (Appendix I SM2).

An interesting observation can also be made by looking at contributions from organic fertilizer applications. Here regional differences are most visible. For instance, Kassel's highest contribution was observed with 66% and the lowest for Emsland with merely 13% for TAP. Moreover, in Kassel, organic fertilizer application contributed most (61%) in Kassel to TEP, whereas Mecklenburgische Seenplatte showed a minor contribution within the organic scenario reaching only 26%. The main reason for this is the lower amount of mineral fertilizer and the higher NH₃ emissions from organic fertilizers for Kassel. The direct emissions from mineral fertilizer scenario (Câmara-Salim et al., 2021). However, it has to be noted that this was mainly influenced by the fertilizer type applied (Basosi et al., 2014).



(a)

Terrestrial eutrophication potential national



(b)

Figure 4.8. Process contribution analysis of rape seed production system for all N-management scenarios (Nbase = N-base scenario; Nman = N-management scenario, Ncc = N-catch crop scenario, Norg = N-organic scenario) and regions for terrestrial acidification potential, regional and terrestrial eutrophication potential, national.

4.3.3 Recommendation for decision makers and added value for decision support

Recommendations on which mitigation measures are most suitable may vary across regions due to regional dependent parameters such as Nmin amounts, yields, other bio-geographical parameters or agricultural inputs. For instance, although the N-organic scenario showed high reduction potential in other regions, it had the lowest environmental performance in Kassel and exceeded the regional N resilience. As a result, the N-organic scenario would not be recommended as the best option for Kassel to reduce regional impacts on N. The impacts of introducing mitigation measures on N resilience were also apparent in the Ansbach and Spree-Neiße regions. Both regions showed high reduction potentials compared to the N-base scenario when applying N reduction strategies. This demonstrates the ability of the approach to serve policymakers on the federal level to evaluate and compare different regions and elaborate the most suitable N management measures or reduction strategies for a region, based on regional requirements. Furthermore, the approach herewith serves decision-makers in improving the environmental performance of regional cropping systems in consideration of N resilience.

Beyond this, the applied methodology adds value for stakeholders from LCA by making it possible to analyze N mitigation measures that take into account different targets on environmental interventions affecting regional N resilience. For example, in the case of achieving an equal share amongst background emissions, we showed the necessary reduction also from non-crop producing sectors, if environmental interventions given regional N resilience remain in a sustainable area (EI = 1). On this basis, recommendations for reducing N impacts for policymakers on the regional and federal levels are given to achieve environmental sustainability targets.

Furthermore, an added value is provided by improving the communication of LCIA results to non-LCA practitioners, for instance, farmers. The regional normalization references are based on the LCIA frameworks and are compatible with frequently used LCIA methods and can thus complement existing approaches, e.g., European references based on the LCIA concept. Finally, by applying the indicator rNR_{BI}, LCIA results might be easily translated into single indicators, allowing a simplified presentation of the environmental intervention of cropping systems and management strategies. In the light of this, consulting companies for farmers, agricultural authorities responsible for monitoring sustainable fertilizer use and N management strategies, and other stakeholders may be guided in decision support and consultancy.

4.3.4 Limitations and improvement of the approach

Although the case study proved the applicability of regional normalization references as a distance-to-target approach for regional N resilience, several areas require further research. First, the approach focused on regional N impacts and, therefore, on only two N-related impact categories, TAP and TEP. Further research should elaborate on integrating and combining existing normalization references based on absolute references for other impact categories also, aiming to improve the overall impact assessment and to avoid possible burden shifting. Second, it has to be noted that we considered background interventions of non-crop producing sectors only. In order to evaluate the impacts of each contributing sector, a scenario analysis is

recommended to assess the resilience considering single sectors, such as the livestock sector, or combinations of sectors. Moreover, the case study showed sensitive results when regional CF had been applied, as in the case of, e.g., Emsland. The choice of LCIA method and spatial level may influence the results given a regional assessment considering N resilience (see Supplementary Materials Appendix I SM2). The practitioner should therefore base the choice of LCIA method and spatial level on data requirements and regional focus of the study. Likewise, scenario analysis and parameter sensitivity should be considered. For instance, the uncertainty analysis of LCI data and variation of the parameter Nmin showed variability of the impact results (see Supplementary Materials Appendix I SM2). The amount of fertilizer applied and, thus, resulting emissions are highly dependent on the considered Nmin. Therefore, the sensitivity of Nmin should be taken into account in the uncertainty analysis of agricultural LCA due to its spatial variability and dependency.

4.4 CONCLUSIONS

In order to reduce human alteration of global and regional N cycles and enable the transition to sustainable agriculture, it is crucial to develop appropriate measurement tools and monitor environmental impacts for deriving necessary targets, trajectories and relevant policy measures (Leach et al., 2012).

The study proved the applicability of considering regional N resilience in LCA to evaluate N management scenarios based on policy measurements. Therefore, it provides improved guidance for evaluation and decision support for regional stakeholders on N management strategies. Overall, the LCA results confirmed the reduction of N impacts by applying policy measures such as the N demand analysis. Moreover, the study revealed the necessity to account for regional differences in an overall N assessment for recommendations of N management options. We displayed necessary reduction levels for background interventions from non-crop producing sectors. With this, we showed that cropping systems would not remain sustainable for any N management option, given regional N resilience, without additional reduction in other sectors, especially in regions with high background interventions. Furthermore, the study is the first to provide regional carrying capacity based normalization references considering background interventions (rNR_{BI}) for the impact categories of terrestrial acidification and terrestrial eutrophication potential for all German NUTS-3 regions.

Finally, this work highlights the need to consider absolute sustainability metrics such as regional N resilience to stress the importance of regional impacts such as terrestrial acidification and eutrophication in assessing crop production systems as an additional tool and an alternative for standard LCA interpretation. However, further research is needed to explore the approach for different countries and regions and complement existing methods that focus on the global or European level.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS. The authors thank Wim de Vries for supplying data on critical N losses for European NUTS regions and the German Environment Agency (Umweltbundesamt - UBA) for providing data on regional air emissions. We also thank W. Bulach for support and advice.

5 SYNTHESIS

The previous chapter 2, 3 and 4 presented the three publications of the thesis. In the following, the first section of the synthesis summarizes the key findings addressing the raised research questions. The second section discusses main challenges, application, and transferability of the developed approach.

5.1 SUMMARY OF KEY FINDINGS

1. How are regional nitrogen flows considered in LCA, and which methodological and practical recommendations can be drawn for a regional assessment of nitrogen in LCA?

The review presented in chapter 2 included a scientific analysis compiling background information of the N-cycle and LCA conditions to identify the specific requirements for N assessment within each LCA phase. Regionalization in LCA of agricultural production systems plays a crucial role in N assessment. Therefore, within a comparative analysis, the identified key factors were matched with regionalization approaches along the four LCA phases. By this, a detailed overview of N compounds and pathways most relevant for assessing impacts resulting from agricultural cropping systems was built.

By analyzing and comparing existing methodological approaches, differences in the level of regionalization, the definition of a region, data requirements, and consideration of biogeochemical conditions or agricultural management practices were found. The release of reactive N compounds is mainly influenced by biogeochemical conditions such as climate (temperature, precipitation), soil conditions (type and structure, O₂ capacity SOC (soil organic carbon) content, pH, N-surplus), and agricultural management practices. The application of process based models or emission factor based approaches may display biogeochemical conditions. Although applying process based models could highly improve the quantification of N pathways and emissions, the necessity of expert knowledge and a high amount of spatial differentiated data make these not applicable and not recommended for an LCA practitioner. By means of this, emission factor based approaches are more suitable for LCA practice and more frequently applied.

Furthermore, the analysis of the different LCIA methods showed that LCIA methods consider different N pathways and compounds. The most relevant impact categories for a regional N assessment are terrestrial eutrophication (TEP) and acidification (TAP), as well as marine eutrophication (MEP). These impact categories include relevant N compounds resulting from N release due to agricultural production systems. The analysis revealed that an LCIA method covering these aspects would include all relevant impact categories and provide regionalized characterization factors (CF). However, none of the analyzed LCIA methods was found to cover

all these aspects. Therefore, it is recommended to combine two LCIA methods to analyze the effects of neglected emission pathways. For instance, by combining the LCIA method IMPACT World+ (Bulle et al., 2019), which covers the relevant N impact category TAP and provides CFs on the regional level with the LCIA method Accumulated Exceedance (AE) (Seppälä et al., 2006). The latter provides CF for terrestrial eutrophication, only on the national level. Both methods have been applied for the further development of the approach. IMPACT World+ for calculation of regional TAP impacts and AE for TEP impacts, as part of the Environmental Footprint (EF) method (reference package 2.0) (Fazio et al., 2018; Sala et al., 2019).

Furthermore, integrating N boundaries in the optional phase of LCIA as regional normalization references may improve decision support. The review revealed that although studies described the relevance of the integration of reference values (Nitschelm et al., 2016) or carrying capacities (Cosme and Niero, 2017), none focused explicitly on regional N references.

Finally, the review provided a comprehensive overview and understanding of the requirements of N for a regional assessment in LCA for all LCA phases. With this, it built the relevant scientific basis and knowledge for developing an LCA-based approach for a regional assessment of the environmental impacts of N from crop production systems.

2. How can nitrogen thresholds be integrated as reference values in LCA to assess the environmental performance of cropping systems considering regional nitrogen resiliencies?

The review study revealed that the integration of regional N-related reference values in the optional phase of LCIA could improve interpretation in view of absolute impacts affecting regional N-cycles and be necessary for a comprehensive regional N assessment.

However, standard LCA represents the implication caused by a system in relative terms, not in absolute terms. The latter requires the integration of reference values in LCA normalization to interpret implications against carrying capacities or environmental resiliencies and therefore assess the overall sustainability (Bjørn et al., 2020a).

So far, two different application routes have been identified in the literature for integrating absolute sustainability references in LCA (Bjørn et al., 2020a). The first route is a planetary boundary (PB) based application, which includes the development of novel LCIA methods that address environmental indicators covering earth system processes of the PB framework (Bjørn et al., 2020c; Butz et al., 2018; Doka, 2015; Ryberg et al., 2018; Ryberg et al., 2016). The second application route is LCIA-based, mainly defined by LCIA impact categories based on the LCIA framework (Bjørn et al., 2016; Bjørn and Hauschild, 2015; Sala et al., 2020; Wolff et al., 2017). Some of these methods (Bjørn et al., 2016) integrate carrying capacities in LCIA characterization and thus adapt characterization factors. Other apply carrying capacity based normalization references built on the LCIA framework (Bjørn and Hauschild, 2015; Sala et al., 2015; Sala et al., 2020). The advantage of using normalization references is that these are based on established impact mechanisms of the LCIA framework, grounded on well-known characterization models, and indicator results can be interpreted accordingly. However, as indicated in chapter 2, none

of the named approaches provides normalization references considering N resilience on the regional level.

In order to assess the environmental performance of cropping systems and their interference with regional N resilience, regional carrying capacity based normalization references were developed and applied as distance-to-target values. The regional normalization references were derived for N-related impact categories and were based on N-related thresholds (critical N-losses) from agricultural production, avoiding exceedance of N concentrations in environmental compartments (de Vries et al., 2021). Furthermore, the influence of N-related background interventions of non-crop producing sectors was considered by including data on background emissions (Schneider et al., 2016) for each NUTS-3 region.

An indicator was introduced evaluating the environmental performance as environmental intervention (EI). EI results from the impact a cropping system contributed to terrestrial acidification or terrestrial eutrophication in a specific region considering its regional carrying capacity, which is expressed as regional normalization reference (rNR).

As identified within the review, two different LCIA methods were applied to assess the sensitivity of the regional assessment. The EF (Environmental Footprint) method (Fazio et al., 2018; Sala et al., 2019) and IMPACT World+ (Bulle et al., 2019). CFs on the national level were applied for both methods for TAP and TEP impacts and included CF on the regional level for TAP only for IMPACT World+.

The approach was applied to three NUTS-3 regions and three yield potential scenarios within a first proof of application. Hereby was shown that the developed approach is applicable to the assessment of the environmental performance of cropping systems. Furthermore, it is replicable and compatible with frequently applied LCIA methods. According to the analysis in chapter 3, further research development and improvement of the approach were identified, given application to different NUTS-3 regions and integration of N management scenarios. Additionally, the analysis of background interventions was identified as essential to assess reduction potentials for a fair distribution of environmental burdens between N-related sectors, avoiding exceedance of regional N resiliencies. The findings from the first proof of concept were integrated with investigations within the third publication (chapter 4), including consideration of background interventions and evaluating their impacts. Furthermore, the approach was further developed and applied to regions with different background loads evaluating different N management scenarios.

3. How does the newly developed approach improve decision support in agricultural LCA for regional stakeholders in assessing nitrogen management measures for reducing regional nitrogen impacts?

The main advantage of transferring LCA results to normalized indicator results is the improvement for decision makers in understanding and relating the environmental assessment (Hauschild and Huijbregts, 2015). The provided indicator EI, for environmental intervention, offers decision makers the possibility to easily interpret the interventions of cropping systems in a region under study in view of the exceedance of regional N resilience. Therefore, hotspots

as to transgression of regional N resilience and possible mitigation strategies may be identified. The results of the case study analyses in chapter 3 and chapter 4 showed that considering regional N resilience would consequently lead to different suggestions and decisions concerning agricultural management strategies.

The third publication, summarized in chapter 4, aimed to prove the applicability of the developed distance-to-target approach for improved decision support for regional stakeholders. The approach was applied to a case study including four different N management scenarios of rapeseed cropping systems in five different NUTS-3 regions. The scenarios were based on policy measures, including an N demand analysis based on the German Fertilizer Ordinance.

Overall, the LCA results confirmed the reduction of N impacts by applying policy measures such as the N demand analysis. Comparing the results on the environmental performance of the different cropping systems under study, regional differences were identified. The N-organic scenario showed high reduction potentials in all regions under study, except for Kassel, where it had the lowest environmental performance and exceeded regional N resilience. Thus, the Norganic scenario would not be recommended as the best option for reducing regional impacts on N. The impacts of introducing mitigation measures on N resilience were also highly visible looking at the regions Ansbach and Spree-Neiße. Both regions showed high reduction potentials compared to the base scenario when applying N reduction strategies. Taking these results into account demonstrates the approach's ability to serve policymakers on the federal level to evaluate and compare different regions and elaborate on the most suitable N management measures or reduction strategies for a region based on regional requirements. This allows regional decision makers to identify priorities regarding N management strategies and therefore improve the environmental performance of regional cropping systems while considering N resilience.

Furthermore, different targets for environmental interventions affecting regional N resilience were evaluated. Aiming to achieve an equal share amongst background emissions, the necessary reduction also from non-crop producing sectors, if environmental interventions in view of regional N resilience remain in a sustainable area (EI = 1) for the different scenarios, was investigated. With this, recommendations for reducing N impacts for policymakers on the regional and federal levels were given, achieving environmental sustainability targets given specific N measures.

Hence, it was proved that addressing regional impacts and carrying capacities serve as additional and simplified decision support in agricultural LCA and play a crucial role in a comprehensive N assessment.

Overall the approach addresses key factors relevant to a regional N assessment and interpretation of impacts identified within the review (chapter 2). Furthermore, an added value is provided by improving the communication of LCIA results to non-LCA practitioners, for instance, farmers. The regional normalization references are based on the LCIA framework and compatible with frequently applied LCIA methods and can thus complement existing LCIA-based approaches, e.g., based on European references. Finally, by applying the indicator rNR_{BI}, LCIA results might be easily translated into single indicators, allowing a simplified presentation

of the environmental intervention of cropping systems and management strategies. This was proven within the case study presented in chapter 4. Furthermore, rNR and rNR_{BI} indicators were derived for all NUTS-3 regions in Germany. Thus, with the newly developed approach, stakeholders, e.g., consulting companies for farmers or agricultural authorities responsible for monitoring sustainable fertilizer use and N management strategies, may be guided in decision support and consultancy.

5.2 CHALLENGES, APPLICATION, AND TRANSFERABILITY OF THE APPROACH

Variability of nitrogen compounds and focus on regional impacts

N losses result in impacts on different temporal and spatial levels. The results of the scientific background analysis of the N-cycle in chapter 2 described the N-cycle and the different N compounds showing pathways and the spatial variance coming with these compounds. The thesis focus was on assessing impacts resulting from losses of agricultural crop production systems and, herewith fertilizer inputs. The analysis identified terrestrial acidification, terrestrial eutrophication, and marine eutrophication as the main LCIA categories affected by N flows on the regional scale. However, for the development of the further approach, only terrestrial acidification potential (TAP) and terrestrial eutrophication potential (TEP) were included. The data used for the calculation of background interventions by Schneider et al. (2016) comprises only air-born emissions. However, to assess background interventions for N emission in surface waters, data on N emission loads to surface waters on the regional level would be necessary. Since these data were unavailable, the focus was on impacts affecting terrestrial compartments due to N deposition. Nevertheless, based on the provided steps described in chapter 3, regional carrying capacity based normalization references may also be developed including other compartments, if data availability is given.

Notwithstanding, the approach is compatible with other normalization references covering impact categories on other spatial levels (Bjørn and Hauschild, 2015; Sala et al., 2020). Further research should elaborate on integrating and combining existing normalization references based on absolute references for other impact categories, improving the overall impact assessment and avoiding possible burden shifting.

Regional reference

The review in chapter 2 revealed different definitions for regional scales in regionalized LCA studies. The definitions vary from political regions on a country or sub-country level to geographical catchments or territories, including different ecological or political regions (see chapter 2). Furthermore, the complexity of having the same regional reference for LCI and LCIA was stressed. Therefore, NUTS-3 regions and, herewith, political boundaries to assess regional N resilience were chosen for the development of the approach. To provide maximum consistency, using the NUTS-3 reference is in line with the data applied for the critical N losses by de Vries et al. (2021) and other studies referring to political boundaries when analyzing regionalization and N-related impacts (Ding et al., 2021; Morais et al., 2017).

Moreover, it was assumed that all N-related emissions contributing to TAP and TEP impacts, e.g., NH₃ emitted in a NUTS-3 region, will also be deposited in the region. This assumption is also in line with the assumption made by de Vries et al. (2021). This likewise included the considered N compounds for the background intervention. Furthermore, it was assumed that the compounds emitted in a NUTS-3 region would cause impacts in the same NUTS-3 region since TEP and TAP impacts are considered to have effects on the regional level. However, on the regional level, only characterization factors for terrestrial acidification were available for the LCIA method IMPACT World+, based on the characterization method of Roy et al. (2012a), Roy et al. (2012b) and Roy et al. (2014). Therefore, these were allocated to the respective NUTS-3 regions under study. For TEP, no characterization factors beneath the country level were available. Consequently, the spatial level in LCI and LCIA was different for TEP. Therefore, applying spatially differentiated CF also for TEP would improve the adapted approach.

Generally, setting thresholds as to ecological regions, e.g., watersheds, would better reflect trans-regional emissions and improve the results. However, regional agricultural data is mainly available on the NUTS-3 or NUTS-2 level. Thus, in the case of decision making, the NUTS level is most suitable to choose as regional decision-makers evaluate or take N mitigation actions mainly on this level (Nitschelm et al., 2018).

Choice of Life Cycle Impact Assessment method

Different LCIA methods and the respective characterization models were analyzed regarding the most relevant N pathways and N compounds for a regional N assessment. As described in chapter 2, the most recommended method was IMPACT World+ (Bulle et al., 2019); however not including TEP impacts. Therefore, this LCIA method was included in the development and complemented with the EF method to cover also TEP impacts. In the EF method, the TEP category is covered based on the characterization method Accumulated Exceedance (AE) (Seppälä et al., 2006).

Regional CFs were available only for assessing TAP impacts with IMPACT World+. The EF method covers TEP impacts with CF on the national level only. To analyze the impacts of the LCIA method choice, additional analyses to investigate sensitivities were made.

The results of the environmental interventions calculated with the different LCIA methods are displayed and discussed in chapters 3 and 4. The choice of LCIA method and spatial level may influence the results given a regional assessment considering N resilience (see Appendix I, SM2). Uncertainty is therefore linked to the applied CFs for deriving the indicator BI (background intervention) and the rNR (regional normalization reference). The results showed alterations when applying spatial differentiated CFs provided by IMPACT World + in the case of TAP. However, the LCIA method IMPACT World + provides a more accurate picture of the emission flows contributions to regional impacts with reduced uncertainty instead of using globally default CFs (Bulle et al., 2019).

As indicated earlier, uncertainty also remains for TEP since a direct comparison of TAP and TEP could not be done due to the lack of regional CFs for TEP. Furthermore, uncertainty is linked

to interpreting results for regional environmental performance since the CFs of TEP and the calculated regional N resiliencies refer to different spatial scales.

Hence, the choice of LCIA method is a challenge for an LCA practitioner. In addition, some LCIA methods do not cover all impact categories or are based on different characterization methods for the same impact category. The practitioner should therefore base the choice of LCIA method and spatial level on data requirements, availability, and the regional focus of the study.

Consideration of background interventions

The method development and the results of chapter 3 showed the influence of background interventions of non-crop producing sectors. In order to get the whole picture of interventions influencing regional N resilience, these were included in the distance-to-target approach. However, it was assumed that the regional background intervention is constant. Since for some regions background interventions (BI) were higher than the regional normalization references (rNR) cropping systems would not remain sustainable for any N management option, in view of regional N resilience, without an additional reduction of background intervention. The case study analysis showed (chapter 4) the impact of reduction potentials of the non-crop producing sectors. To achieve an equal share amongst the non-crop and the crop-producing sectors, the necessary reductions of non-crop producing sectors should be taken into account. Further investigations may also focus on analyzing the influence of different reduction targets aiming to implement specific mitigation measures or analyzing the contributions of single sectors or sector combinations.

The background interventions were assessed based on data for air emissions contributing to TAP and TEP impacts from the related sectors (Schneider et al., 2016). Hence, N compounds were included contributing to eutrophication and acidification impacts. Since in particular SO₂ emissions are mainly contributing to TAP impacts, these were also included in the background interventions (Bouwman et al., 2002). This was done since neglecting this emission compound would have decreased the background load of the relevant emissions contributing to TAP, and thus comparability to TEP background interventions would not have been given.

Integration as normalization reference and choice of sharing principle

As indicated in chapter 3 there are different ways of integrating absolute references in LCA. The basis of the developed approach included an LCIA-based application (Bjørn et al., 2020a) by integrating carrying capacity based normalization references according to the approach proposed by Bjørn and Hauschild (2015). However, the share of a system under study to its carrying capacity can be calculated by applying different sharing principles, for instance, via a grand fathering principle (share proportional to an impact of a reference year), to the added economic value, land area or equal per capita (Bjørn et al., 2020a). Since the impacts were evaluated according to rapeseed production on one hectare, the possessed land area as sharing principle could have also been a suitable option.

Nevertheless, the per capita sharing principle was chosen since the compatibility with other approaches (Bjørn and Hauschild, 2015; Sala et al., 2020) applying the same allocation principles is given. Secondly, critical N-losses resulting from crop production and background interventions from non-crop producing sectors were considered for carrying capacity assessment in the developed approach. Since both are not directly related to land area, the per capita sharing principle was identified as the most suitable. Nevertheless, adapting the approach to other sharing principles or combinations may be of interest for future investigations.

Transferability and applicability for LCA practitioners in agricultural Life Cycle Assessment

The approach was developed based on derived regional normalization references for German NUTS-3 regions. Therefore, it can be applied to assess agricultural crop production systems in German regions. The transferability is given by providing all relevant steps and necessary data for application, as described in chapter 3. Data on critical losses and background intervention are necessary to apply the approach to different countries. Herewith further adjustment is needed.

The regional normalization references are based on the LCIA framework and compatible with frequently used LCIA methods and can thus complement existing approaches, e.g., for European references based on the LCIA concept, applying the same allocation principles. Thus, it can complement or replace TEP and TAP categories. Finally, by applying the indicator rNR_{BI} , LCIA results might be easily translated into single indicators, allowing a simplified presentation of the environmental intervention of cropping systems and management strategies.

6 CONCLUSION AND OUTLOOK

In this thesis, a novel, LCA-based distance-to-target approach was developed that links regional nitrogen thresholds with LCA by applying these as regional carrying capacity based normalization references for an improved regional assessment of environmental impacts of nitrogen in crop production systems.

Three main research questions were raised and answered, addressing the development of the LCA-based approach for a regional assessment of environmental impacts in crop production systems considering regional nitrogen resilience.

This thesis investigated relevant requirements for assessing nitrogen releases of crop production systems with LCA. The analysis identified nitrogen requirements for a regional assessment translating these into a newly developed approach for LCA. A comprehensive overview of the requirements of LCA, including the scientific background of the nitrogen cycle for each LCA phase, completed this. Analyzing process based models and Life Cycle Impact Assessment methods reflecting nitrogen pathways gave a detailed overview and basis for a targeted nitrogen assessment. This information was included to derive an approach serving for a comprehensive assessment of regional nitrogen impacts, considering threshold values as critical nitrogen losses and nitrogen-related background interventions. Based on these, regional carrying capacity based normalization references were derived for all NUTS-3 regions in Germany, directly applicable for the impact categories terrestrial acidification and eutrophication potential in LCA.

The thesis showed that with the developed approach, research questions regarding regional vulnerabilities of nitrogen could be addressed more specifically. The approach herewith **supports two types of decision makers**. **Firstly**, decision makers on the policy level are supported in view of the evaluation and choice of nitrogen management strategies and implementation of nitrogen reduction strategies. The approach delivers not only recommendations as to the most suitable reduction strategy for crop production systems in a region but also advises stakeholders in view of changes in a region's nitrogen carrying capacity and therefore serves as a warning system given the precautionary principle. **Secondly**, LCA practitioners, by providing indicators which can be directly applied within LCA for assessment of terrestrial eutrophication and terrestrial acidification impacts on the regional level. The approach provides an added value for the environmental assessment of cropping systems by interpreting results on a relative level and considering absolute levels of environmental intervention, such as regional nitrogen resilience. A main advantage is the direct applicability in LCA and the simplified interpretation by translation in personal share equivalence.

The main challenges include the choice of LCIA method, level of regional reference, and choice of sharing principle. Furthermore, a main limitation is that the approach is currently developed for Germany only. However, the newly developed approach provides all necessary steps for

transferability to other countries. Possibilities for further development and investigations addressing the named challenges are therefore given.

The developed approach contributes as a relevant part to the research field of regional nitrogen assessment in LCA. Within the case study assessments, it was demonstrated that the developed distance-to-target approach serves as improved decision support for regional stakeholders when assessing nitrogen mitigation measures and is also applicable to other cropping systems.

Especially for relevant policy decisions, the integration of absolute indicators is necessary. Finally, the provided approach showed the application of regional nitrogen thresholds as reference values in LCA and application for evaluation of policy strategies. Therefore, it can also be seen as a relevant contribution to developing an integrative nitrogen reduction strategy on the national level.

7 REFERENCES

- Audsley, E., Alber, S., Clift, R., Cowell, S., Crettaz, P., Gaillard, G., Hausheer, J., Jolliet, O., Kleijn, R., Mortensen, B., 1997. Harmonisation of environmental life cycle assessment for agriculture. Final Report, Concerted Action AIR3-CT94-2028. European Commission, DG VI Agriculture.
- Bacenetti, J., Fusi, A., Negri, M., Guidetti, R., Fiala, M., 2014. Environmental assessment of two different crop systems in terms of biomethane potential production. Sci. Total Environ. 466, 1066–1077. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2013.07.109.
- Basosi, R., Spinelli, D., Fierro, A., Jez, S., 2014. Mineral nitrogen fertilizers: Environmental impact of production and use, in: Fernando Lòpez-Valdez, Fabiàn Fernàndez Luqueno (Ed.), Fertil. Compon. Uses Agric. Environ. Impacts, Nova science publishers. Lopez-Valdez, F and Fernandez-Luquenos, F, New York. NOVA Science Publishers, pp. 3–44.
- Bessou, C., Basset-Mens, C., Tran, T., Benoist, A., 2013. LCA applied to perennial cropping systems: a review focused on the farm stage. Int. J. Life Cycle Assess. 18, 340–361. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11367-012-0502-z.
- Bjørn, A., Chandrakumar, C., Boulay, A.-M., Doka, G., Fang, K., Gondran, N., Hauschild, M.Z., Kerkhof, A., King, H., Margni, M., McLaren, S., Mueller, C., Owsianiak, M., Peters, G., Roos, S., Sala, S., Sandin, G., Sim, S., Vargas-Gonzalez, M., Ryberg, M., 2020a. Review of life-cycle based methods for absolute environmental sustainability assessment and their applications. Environ. Res. Lett. 15, 83001. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/ab89d7.
- Bjørn, A., Hauschild, M.Z., 2015. Introducing carrying capacity-based normalisation in LCA: framework and development of references at midpoint level. Int. J. Life Cycle Assess. 20, 1005–1018. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11367-015-0899-2.
- Bjørn, A., Hauschild, M.Z., Røpke, I., & Richardson, 2015. Better, but good enough? Indicators for absolute environmental sustainability in a life cycle perspective, Lyngby: DTU Management Engineering. https://orbit.dtu.dk/en/publications/better-but-goodenough-indicators-for-absolute-environmental-sust.
- Bjørn, A., Margni, M., Roy, P.-O., Bulle, C., Hauschild, M.Z., 2016. A proposal to measure absolute environmental sustainability in life cycle assessment. Ecol. Indic. 63, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2015.11.046.
- Bjørn, A., Sim, S., Boulay, A.-M., King, H., Clavreul, J., Lam, W.Y., Barbarossa, V., Bulle, C., Margni, M., 2020b. A planetary boundary-based method for freshwater use in life cycle assessment: Development and application to a tomato production case study. Ecol. Indic. 110, 105865. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2019.105865.

- Bjørn, A., Sim, S., King, H., Margni, M., Henderson, A.D., Payen, S., Bulle, C., 2020c. A comprehensive planetary boundary-based method for the nitrogen cycle in life cycle assessment: Development and application to a tomato production case study. Sci. Total Environ. 715, 136813. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.136813.
- Bjørn, A., Sim, S., King, H., Patouillard, L., Margni, M., Hauschild, M.Z., Ryberg, M., 2020d. Life cycle assessment applying planetary and regional boundaries to the process level: a model case study. Int. J. Life Cycle Assess. 25, 2241–2254. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11367-020-01823-8.
- BLS, 2021. Land- und Forstwirtschaft, Fischerei: Pflanzliche Erzeugung (Erntestatistiken). Bayrisches Landesmat f
 ür Statistik. https://www.statistik.bayern.de/statistik/wirtschaft_handel/landwirtschaft/index.html#li nk_2 (accessed 25 October 2022).
- BMEL, 2021. Verordnung über die Anwendung von Düngemitteln, Bodenhilfsstoffen, Kultursubstraten und Pflanzenhilfsmitteln nach den Grundsätzen der guten fachlichen Praxis beim Düngen (Düngeverordnung - DüV): DüV. Bundesministerium für Ernährung und Landwirtschaft. http://www.gesetze-im-internet.de/d_v_2017/ (accessed 25 October 2022).
- Bodirsky, B.L., Popp, A., Lotze-Campen, H., Dietrich, J.P., Rolinski, S., Weindl, I., Schmitz, C., Müller, C., Bonsch, M., Humpenöder, F., 2014. Reactive nitrogen requirements to feed the world in 2050 and potential to mitigate nitrogen pollution. Nat. Clin. Pract. Endocrinol. Metab. 5.
- Bouwman, A.F., van Vuuren, D.P., Derwent, R.G., Posch, M., 2002. A global analysis of acidification and eutrophication of terrestrial ecosystems. Water Air Soil Pollut. 141, 349– 382. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1021398008726.
- Bouwman, L., Goldewijk, K.K., van der Hoek, K.W., Beusen, A.H.W., van Vuuren, D.P.,
 Willems, J., Rufino, M.C., Stehfest, E., 2013. Exploring global changes in nitrogen and phosphorus cycles in agriculture induced by livestock production over the 1900-2050 period. PNAS 110, 20882–20887. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1012878108.
- Brentrup, F., Küsters, J., Kuhlmann, H., Lammel, J., 2004. Environmental impact assessment of agricultural production systems using the life cycle assessment methodology: I. Theoretical concept of a LCA method tailored to crop production. European Journal of Agronomy 20, 247–264. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1161-0301(03)00024-8.
- Bulle, C., Margni, M., Patouillard, L., Boulay, A.-M., Bourgault, G., Bruille, V. de, Cao, V., Hauschild, M., Henderson, A., Humbert, S., Kashef-Haghighi, S., Kounina, A., Laurent, A., Levasseur, A., Liard, G., Rosenbaum, R.K., Roy, P.-O., Shaked, S., Fantke, P., Jolliet, O., 2019. IMPACT World+: a globally regionalized life cycle impact assessment method. Int. J. Life Cycle Assess. 24, 1653–1674. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11367-019-01583-0.
- Bundesnetzagentur, 2021. Pow-er plant list (from November 15th, 2021). https://www.bundesnetzagentur.de/EN/Areas/Energy/Companies/SecurityOfSupply/Gen eratingCapacity/PowerPlantList/start.html (accessed 1 May 2022).

- Butz, C., Liechti, J., Bodin, J., Cornell, S.E., 2018. Towards defining an environmental investment universe within planetary boundaries. Sustain. Sci. 13, 1031–1044. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11625-018-0574-1.
- Câmara-Salim, I., Almeida-García, F., Feijoo, G., Moreira, M.T., González-García, S., 2021. Environmental consequences of wheat-based crop rotation in potato farming systems in galicia, Spain. J. Environ. Manage. 287, 112351. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2021.112351.
- Campbell, B.M., Beare, D.J., Bennett, E.M., Hall-Spencer, J.M., Ingram, J.S.I., Jaramillo, F., Ortiz, R., Ramankutty, N., Sayer, J.A., Shindell, D., 2017. Agriculture production as a major driver of the Earth system exceeding planetary boundaries. Ecol. Soc. 22. https://doi.org/10.5751/ES-09595-220408.
- Chen, X., Cui, Z., Fan, M., Vitousek, P., Zhao, M., Ma, W., Wang, Z., Zhang, W., Yan, X., Yang, J., Deng, X., Gao, Q., Zhang, Q., Guo, S., Ren, J., Li, S., Ye, Y., Wang, Z., Huang, J., Tang, Q., Sun, Y., Peng, X., Zhang, J., He, M., Zhu, Y., Xue, J., Wang, G., Wu, L., An, N., Wu, L., Ma, L., Zhang, W., Zhang, F., 2014. Producing more grain with lower environmental costs. Nature 514, 486–489. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature13609.
- Cosme, N., Niero, M., 2017. Modelling the influence of changing climate in present and future marine eutrophication impacts from spring barley production. Journal of Cleaner Production 140, 537–546. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2016.06.077.
- de Haes, H.U., Finnveden, G., Goedkoop, M., Hertwich, E., Hofstetter, P., Klöpffer, W., Krewitt, W., Lindeijer, E., 2002. Life cycle impact assessment: Striving towards best practice.
- de Vries, W., 2021. Impacts of nitrogen emissions on ecosystems and human health: A mini review. Curr. Opin. Environ. Sci. Health 21, 100249. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coesh.2021.100249.
- de Vries, W., Kros, J., Kroeze, C., Seitzinger, S.P., 2013. Assessing planetary and regional nitrogen boundaries related to food security and adverse environmental impacts. Curr. Opin. Environ. Sustain. 5, 392–402. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cosust.2013.07.004.
- de Vries, W., Schulte-Uebbing, L., 2020. Required changes in nitrogen inputs and nitrogen use efficiencies to reconcile agricultural productivity with water and air quality objectives in the EU-27. Proceedings 842. https://www.fertilizerseurope.com/news/required-changesin-nitrogen-inputs-and-nitrogen-use-efficiencies-to-reconcile-agricultural-productivitywith-water-and-air-quality-objectives-in-the-eu-27/ (accessed 25 October 2022).
- de Vries, W., Schulte-Uebbing, L., Kros, H., Voogd, J.C., Louwagie, G., 2021. Spatially explicit boundaries for agricultural nitrogen inputs in the European Union to meet air and water quality targets. Sci. Total Environ. 786, 147283. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.147283.
- DeStatis, 2018a. Bodenfläche nach Art der tatsächlichen Nutzung Stichtag 31.12. Kreise und kreisfr. Städte (ab 2016).

https://www.regionalstatistik.de/genesis/online?operation=statistic&levelindex=0&leveli d=1635625816774&code=33111#abreadcrumb (accessed 25 October 2022).

- DeStatis, 2018b. Daten aus dem Gemeindeverzeichnis: Kreisfreie Städte und Landkreise nach Fläche, Bevölkerung und Bevölkerungsdichte. https://www.destatis.de/DE/Themen/Laender-Regionen/Regionales/Gemeindeverzeichnis/ inhalt.html (accessed 25 October 2022).
- DeStatis, 2020. Düngemittelversorgung Fachserie 4 Reihe 8.2 3. Vierteljahr 2020. https://www.destatis.de/DE/Themen/Branchen-Unternehmen/Industrie-Verarbeitendes-Gewerbe/Publikationen/Downloads-Fachstatistiken/duengemittelversorgung-vierteljahr-2040820203234.html (accessed 25 October 2022).
- Ding, T., Bourrelly, S., Achten, W.M.J., 2021. Application of territorial emission factors with open-access data—a territorial LCA case study of land use for livestock production in Wallonia. Int. J. Life Cycle Assess. 26, 1556–1569. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11367-021-01949-3.
- Döhler, H., Eurich-Menden, B., Rößler, R., Vandré, R., Wulf, S., 2011. UN ECE-Luftreinhaltekonvention Task Force on Reactive Nitrogen. (Keine Angabe).
- Doka, G., 2015. Combining life cycle inventory results with planetary boundaries: the planetary boundary allowance impact assessment method PBA'05. Doka LCA, Zurich, Switzerland.
- Düwel, O., Siebner, C., Utermann, J., Krone, F., 2007. Bodenarten der Böden Deutschlands Bericht über länderübergreifende Auswertungen von Punktinformationen im FISBo BGR: Karte der Bodenarten in Oberböden 1:1.000.000 (BOART1000OB). https://www.bgr.bund.de/DE/Themen/Boden/Informationsgrundlagen/Bodenkundliche_ Karten_Datenbanken/Themenkarten/BOART1000OB/boart1000ob_node.html.
- ecoinvent association, 2018. ecoinvent v3.5 database (cut-off).
- EEA, 2019. EMEP/EEA air pollutant emission inventory guidebook 2019: Technical guidance to prepare national emission inventories. European Environment Agency.
- Emmenegger, M.F., Reinhard, J., Zah, R., 2009. Sustainability Quick Check for Biofuels intermediate background report.: With contributions from T. Ziep, R. Weichbrodt, Prof. Dr. V. Wohlgemuth, FHTW Berlin and A. Roches, R. Freiermuth Knuchel, Dr. G. Gaillard, Agroscope Reckenholz-Tänikon., Dübendorf.
- Erisman, J., Leach, A., Bleeker, A., Atwell, B., Cattaneo, L., Galloway, J., 2018. An Integrated Approach to a Nitrogen Use Efficiency (NUE) Indicator for the Food Production– Consumption Chain. Sustainability 10, 925. https://doi.org/10.3390/su10040925.
- Erisman, J.W., Galloway, J.N., Dise, N.B., Sutton, M.A., Bleeker, A., Grizzetti, B., Leach, A.M., Vries, W. de, 2015. Nitrogen: too much of a vital resource: Science Brief 9074595227. Netherlands, W. W.F.

- Erisman, J.W., Galloway, J.N., Seitzinger, S., Bleeker, A., Dise, N.B., Am Petrescu, R., Leach, A.M., Vries, W. de, 2013. Consequences of human modification of the global nitrogen cycle. Phil. Trans. R. Soc. B 368, 20130116. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2013.0116.
- European Commission, 2017. PEFCR Guidance document: Guidance for the development of Product Environmental Footprint Category Rules (PEFCRs), version 6.3. https://ec.europa.eu/environment/eussd/smgp/pdf/PEFCR_guidance_v6.3.pdf.
- Fazio, S., Castellani, V., Sala, S., Schau, E.M., Secchi, M., Zampori, L., Diaconu, E., 2018. Supporting information to the characterisation factors of recommended EF Life Cycle Impact Assessment methods, version 2, from ILCD to EF 3.0. European Comission, Ispra. https://doi.org/10.2760/002447.
- Foley, J.A., Ramankutty, N., Brauman, K.A., Cassidy, E.S., Gerber, J.S., Johnston, M., Mueller, N.D., O'Connell, C., Ray, D.K., West, P.C., Balzer, C., Bennett, E.M., Carpenter, S.R., Hill, J., Monfreda, C., Polasky, S., Rockström, J., Sheehan, J., Siebert, S., Tilman, D., Zaks, D.P.M., 2011. Solutions for a cultivated planet. Nature 478, 337–342. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature10452.
- Galloway, J.N., Aber, J.D., Erisman, J.W., Seitzinger, S.P., Howarth, R.W., Cowling, E.B., Cosby, B.J., 2003. The Nitrogen Cascade. BioScience 53, 341–356. https://doi.org/10.1641/0006-3568(2003)053[0341:Tnc]2.0.Co;2.
- Gerten, D., Heck, V., Jägermeyr, J., Bodirsky, B.L., Fetzer, I., Jalava, M., Kummu, M., Lucht, W., Rockström, J., Schaphoff, S., Schellnhuber, H.J., 2020. Feeding ten billion people is possible within four terrestrial planetary boundaries. Nat. Sustain. 3, 200–208. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41893-019-0465-1.
- González-García, S., Almeida, F., Moreira, M.T., Brandão, M., 2021. Evaluating the environmental profiles of winter wheat rotation systems under different management strategies. Sci. Total Environ. 770, 145270. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.145270.
- Guinée, J.B., Gorrée, M., Heijungs, R., Huppes, G., Kleijn, R., Koning, A. de, van Oers, L.,
 Wegener Sleeswijk, A., Suh, S., Udo de Haes, H.A., Bruijn, H.d., van Duin, R., Huijbregts,
 M., 2002. Handbook on life cycle assessment. Operational guide to the ISO standards. I:
 LCA in perspective. IIa: Guide. IIb: Operational annex. III: Scientific background. Kluwer
 Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, 692 pp.
- Hauschild, M.Z., Huijbregts, M.A.J. (Eds.), 2015. Life Cycle Impact Assessment. Springer Netherlands, Dordrecht.
- Hauschild, M.Z., Rosenbaum, R.K., Olsen, S.I. (Eds.), 2018. Life Cycle Assessment: Theory and Practice. Springer International Publishing, Cham.
- HSL, 2021. Regionale Erntedaten. Hessisches Statistisches Landesamt. https://statistik.hessen.de/unsere-zahlen/land-und-forstwirtschaft (accessed 25 October 2022).
- Humbert, S., 2009. Geographically differentiated life-cycle impact assessment of human health.
- IPCC, 2006. 2006 IPCC guidelines for national greenhouse gas inventories. Institute for Global Environmental Strategies Hayama, Japan.
- ISO, 2006a. ISO 14040: Environmental management Life cycle assessment Principles and framework. International Organization for Standardization.
- ISO, 2006b. ISO 14044: Environmental management—life cycle assessment—requirements and guidelines. International Organization for Standardization.
- Kahiluoto, H., Kuisma, M., Kuokkanen, A., Mikkilä, M., Linnanen, L., 2015. Local and social facets of planetary boundaries: right to nutrients. Environ. Res. Lett. 10, 104013. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/10/10/104013.
- Kanter, D., Zhang, X., Howard, C.M., 2016. Nitrogen and the sustainable development goals, Melbourne, Australia.
- Knudsen, M.T., Meyer-Aurich, A., Olesen, J.E., Chirinda, N., Hermansen, J.E., 2014. Carbon footprints of crops from organic and conventional arable crop rotations – using a life cycle assessment approach. J. Clean. Prod. 64, 609–618. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2013.07.009.
- Laiv-mv, 2021. Land- & Forstwirtschaft, Fischerei. Landesamt f
 ür innere Verwaltung Mecklenburg-Vorpommern. https://www.laiv-mv.de/Statistik/Zahlen-und-Fakten/Wirtschaftsbereiche/Land%E2%80%93-und-Forstwirtschaft,-Fischerei (accessed 25 October 2022).
- Lassaletta, L., Billen, G., Grizzetti, B., Anglade, J., Garnier, J., 2014. 50 year trends in nitrogen use efficiency of world cropping systems: the relationship between yield and nitrogen input to cropland. Environ. Res. Lett. 9, 105011. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/9/10/105011.
- Leach, A.M., Galloway, J.N., Bleeker, A., Erisman, J.W., Kohn, R., Kitzes, J., 2012. A nitrogen footprint model to help consumers understand their role in nitrogen losses to the environment. Environ. Dev. 1, 40–66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envdev.2011.12.005.
- LELF, 2021. Empfehlung 2021 entsprechend Düngeverordnung § 4 (4) für Winterungen und Sommergetreide. https://lelf.brandenburg.de/sixcms/media.php/9/Empfehlung-2021entsprechend-Duengeverordnung-fuer-Winterungen-und-Sommergetreide.pdf (accessed 25 October 2022).
- LfL, 2021. Nmin-Werte im Jahr 2021 in Bayern. Bayerische Landesanstalt für Landwirtschaft. https://www.lfl.bayern.de/mam/cms07/iab/dateien/alle_nmin_werte_2021.pdf (accessed 25 October 2022).
- LLH, 2021a. Düngebedarfsermittlung Frühjahr 2021. Landesbetrieb Landwirtschaft Hessen. https://llh.hessen.de/pflanze/boden-und-duengung/duengeverordnung/neuerahmenbedingungen-fuer-die-duengebedarfsermittlung-im-fruehjahr-2021 (accessed 25 October 2022).

- LLH, 2021b. Nmin-Wert zu Vegetationsbeginn. Landesbetrieb Landwirtschaft Hessen. https://llh.hessen.de/pflanze/boden-und-duengung/n-duengung/nmin-wert-zuvegetationsbeginn/ (accessed 25 October 2022).
- LMS Agrarberatung GmbH, 2021. Ergebnisse der Nmin-Untersuchungen für Mecklenburg-Vorpommern - Winterungen 2021. https://www.lmsberatung.de/export/sites/lms/de/.galleries/Downloads_LFB/DueV/Nmin-Winterungen-2021.pdf (accessed 25 October 2022).
- LSN, 2021. Erntestatistik online Ernteergebnisse in Niedersachsen seit 1991. Landesamt für Statistik Niedersachsen.

https://www.statistik.niedersachsen.de/landwirtschaft_forstwirtschaft_fischerei/landwirts chaft_in_niedersachsen/wachstum_und_ernte/erntestatistik_online/ernteergebnisse_seit_ 1991/erntestatistik-online-ernteergebnisse-in-niedersachsen-seit-1991-152870.html (accessed 30 October 2021).

- LWK Niedersachsen, 2021. Nmin-Richtwerte für das Jahr 2021. Landwirtschaftskammer Niedersachsen. https://www.lwkniedersachsen.de/index.cfm/portal/duengebehoerde/nav/2280/article/37824.html (accessed 25 October 2022).
- Morais, T.G., Teixeira, R.F.M., Domingos, T., 2017. A Step Toward Regionalized Scale-Consistent Agricultural Life Cycle Assessment Inventories. Integr. Environ. Assess. Manag. 13, 939–951. https://doi.org/10.1002/ieam.1889.
- Mousavi-Avval, S.H., Rafiee, S., Sharifi, M., Hosseinpour, S., Notarnicola, B., Tassielli, G., Renzulli, P.A., Khanali, M., 2017. Use of LCA indicators to assess Iranian rapeseed production systems with different residue management practices. Ecol. Indic. 80, 31–39. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2017.04.045.
- Muhl, M., Berger, M., Finkbeiner, M., 2021. Distance-to-target weighting in LCA—A matter of perspective. Int. J. Life Cycle Assess. 26, 114–126. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11367-020-01837-2.
- Nemecek, T., Dubois, D., Huguenin-Elie, O., Gaillard, G., 2011a. Life cycle assessment of Swiss farming systems: I. Integrated and organic farming. Agric. Syst. 104, 217–232. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agsy.2010.10.002.
- Nemecek, T., Huguenin-Elie, O., Dubois, D., Gaillard, G., 2005. Ökobilanzierung von Anbausystemen im schweizerischen Acker-und Futterbau. Agroscope FAL Reckenholz Zürich, Schriftenreihe der FAL.
- Nemecek, T., Huguenin-Elie, O., Dubois, D., Gaillard, G., Schaller, B., Chervet, A., 2011b. Life cycle assessment of Swiss farming systems: II. Extensive and intensive production. Agric. Syst. 104, 233–245. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agsy.2010.07.007.
- Nemecek, T., Kägi, T., Blaser, S., 2007. Life cycle inventories of agricultural production systems. Final report ecoinvent v2. 0 No.

- Nemecek, T., Schnetzer, J., Reinhard, J., 2016. Updated and harmonised greenhouse gas emissions for crop inventories. Int. J. Life Cycle Assess. 21, 1361–1378. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11367-014-0712-7.
- Nitschelm, L., Aubin, J., Corson, M.S., Viaud, V., Walter, C., 2016. Spatial differentiation in Life Cycle Assessment LCA applied to an agricultural territory: current practices and method development. J. Clean. Prod. 112, 2472–2484. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2015.09.138.
- Norris, G.A., 2002. Impact Characterization in the Tool for the Reduction and Assessment of Chemical and Other Environmental Impacts. J. Ind. Ecol. 6, 79–101. https://doi.org/10.1162/108819802766269548.
- Noya, I., Gonzalez-Garcia, S., Bacenetti, J., Arroja, L., Moreira, M.T., 2015. Comparative life cycle assessment of three representative feed cereals production in the Po Valley (Italy). J. Clean. Prod. 99, 250–265. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2015.03.001.
- O'Keeffe, S., Wochele-Marx, S., Thrän, D., 2016. RELCA: a REgional Life Cycle inventory for Assessing bioenergy systems within a region. Energy Sustain. Soc. 6, 12. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13705-016-0078-8.
- Olfs, H.-W., Blankenau, K., Brentrup, F., Jasper, J., Link, A., Lammel, J., 2005. Soil- and plantbased nitrogen-fertilizer recommendations in arable farming. J. Plant Nutr. Soil Sci. (1999) 168, 414–431. https://doi.org/10.1002/jpln.200520526.
- Patouillard, L., Bulle, C., Querleu, C., Maxime, D., Osset, P., Margni, M., 2018. Critical review and practical recommendations to integrate the spatial dimension into life cycle assessment. J. Clean. Prod. 177, 398–412. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2017.12.192.
- Pizzol, M., Laurent, A., Sala, S., Weidema, B., Verones, F., Koffler, C., 2017. Normalisation and weighting in life cycle assessment: quo vadis? Int. J. Life Cycle Assess. 22, 853–866. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11367-016-1199-1.
- Potting, J., Schöpp, W., Blok, K., Hauschild, M., 1998. Site-Dependent Life-Cycle Impact Assessment of Acidification. J. Ind. Ecol. 2, 63–87. https://doi.org/10.1162/jiec.1998.2.2.63.
- Rockström, J., Steffen, W., Noone, K., Persson, Å., Chapin III, F.S., Lambin, E., Lenton, T., Scheffer, M., Folke, C., Schellnhuber, H.J., 2009. Planetary boundaries: exploring the safe operating space for humanity. Ecol. Soc. 14. https://doi.org/10.5751/ES-03180-140232.
- Rösemann, C., Hänel, H.-D., Dämmgen, U., Voss, C., Freibauer, A., Wulf, S., Eurich-Menden,B., Döhler, H., Schreiner, C., Döring, U., Osterburg, B., Fuß, R., 2021. Calculations ofgaseous and particulate emissions from German agriculture 1990-2019: Report onmethods and data (RMD) Submission 2021. Report, Thünen.
- Rosenbaum, R.K., Georgiadis, S., Fantke, P., 2018. Uncertainty Management and Sensitivity Analysis, in: Hauschild, M.Z., Rosenbaum, R.K., Olsen, S.I. (Eds.), Life Cycle Assessment: Theory and Practice. Springer International Publishing, Cham, pp. 271–321.

- Roy, P., Nei, D., Orikasa, T., Xu, Q., Okadome, H., Nakamura, N., Shiina, T., 2009. A review of life cycle assessment (LCA) on some food products. J. Food Eng. 90, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfoodeng.2008.06.016.
- Roy, P.O., Azevedo, L.B., Margni, M., van Zelm, R., Deschenes, L., Huijbregts, M.A.J., 2014. Characterization factors for terrestrial acidification at the global scale: A systematic analysis of spatial variability and uncertainty. Sci. Total Environ. 500, 270–276. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2014.08.099.
- Roy, P.-O., Deschénes, L., Margni, M., 2012a. Life cycle impact assessment of terrestrial acidification: modeling spatially explicit soil sensitivity at the global scale. Environ. Sci. Technol. 46, 8270–8278.
- Roy, P.-O., Deschênes, L., Margni, M., 2013. Uncertainty and spatial variability in characterization factors for aquatic acidification at the global scale. Int. J. Life Cycle Assess. 19, 882–890. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11367-013-0683-0.
- Roy, P.-O., Huijbregts, M., Deschênes, L., Margni, M., 2012b. Spatially-differentiated atmospheric source–receptor relationships for nitrogen oxides, sulfur oxides and ammonia emissions at the global scale for life cycle impact assessment. Atmos. Environ. 62, 74–81. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2012.07.069.
- Ryberg, M.W., Owsianiak, M., Richardson, K., Hauschild, M.Z., 2016. Challenges in implementing a Planetary Boundaries based Life-Cycle Impact Assessment methodology. J. Clean. Prod. 139, 450–459. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2016.08.074.
- Ryberg, M.W., Owsianiak, M., Richardson, K., Hauschild, M.Z., 2018. Development of a lifecycle impact assessment methodology linked to the Planetary Boundaries framework. Ecol. Indic. 88, 250–262. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2017.12.065.
- Sala, S., Amadei, A.M., Beylot, A., Ardente, F., 2021. The evolution of life cycle assessment in European policies over three decades. Int. J. Life Cycle Assess. 26, 2295–2314. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11367-021-01893-2.
- Sala, S., Benini, L., Castellani, V., Vidal Legaz, B., Laurentiis, V. de, Pant, R., 2019.Suggestions for the update of the Environmental Footprint Life Cycle Impact Assessment:Impacts due to resource use, water use, land use, and particulate matter. EUR 28636 EN.
- Sala, S., Crenna, E., Secchi, M., Sanyé-Mengual, E., 2020. Environmental sustainability of European production and consumption assessed against planetary boundaries. J. Environ. Manage. 269, 110686. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2020.110686.
- Salomon, M., Schmid, E., Volkens, A., Hey, C., Holm-Müller, K., Foth, H., 2016. Towards an integrated nitrogen strategy for Germany. Environ. Sci. Policy 55, 158–166. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsci.2015.10.003.
- Sandin, G., Peters, G.M., Svanstrom, M., 2015. Using the planetary boundaries framework for setting impact-reduction targets in LCA contexts. Int. J. Life Cycle Assess. 20, 1684–1700. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11367-015-0984-6.

- SBB, 2021. Ernteberichterstattung über Feldfrüchte und Grünland im Land Brandenburg (endgültiges Ergebnis). Amt für Statistik Berlin-Brandenburg. https://www.statistikberlin-brandenburg.de/c-ii-2-j (accessed 25 October 2022).
- Schneider, C., Pelzer, M., Toenges-Schuller, N., Nacken, M., Niederau, A., 2016. ArcGIS basierte Lösung zur detaillierten, deutschlandweiten Verteilung (Gridding) nationaler Emissionsjahreswerte auf Basis des Inventars zur Emissionsberichterstattung 71/206. https://www.umweltbundesamt.de/publikationen/arcgis-basierte-loesung-zurdetaillierten (accessed 25 October 2022).
- Schulte-Uebbing, L.F., Beusen, A.H.W., Bouwman, A.F., Vries, W. de, 2022. From planetary to regional boundaries for agricultural nitrogen pollution. Nature 610, 507–512. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-022-05158-2.
- Schütze, G., Geupel, M., 2011. Stickstoff Zuviel des Guten?, Dessau-Roßlau, 42 pp.
- Seppälä, J., Posch, M., Johansson, M., Hettelingh, J.P., 2006. Country-dependent characterisation factors for acidification and terrestrial eutrophication based on accumulated exceedance as an impact category indicator. Int. J. Life Cycle Assess. 11, 403–416. https://doi.org/10.1065/lca2005.06.215.
- Steffen, W., Richardson, K., Rockström, J., Cornell, S.E., Fetzer, I., Bennett, E.M., Biggs, R., Carpenter, S.R., Vries, W. de, Wit, C.A. de, Folke, C., Gerten, D., Heinke, J., Mace, G.M., Persson, L.M., Ramanathan, V., Reyers, B., Sörlin, S., 2015. Planetary boundaries: Guiding human development on a changing planet. Science 347. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1259855.
- Sutton, M.A., Bleeker, A., Howard, C.M., Bekunda, M., Grizzetti, B., Vries, W. de, van Grinsven, H.J., Abrol, Y.P., Adhya, T.K., Billen, G., 2013. Our nutrient world: the challenge to produce more food and energy with less pollution 1906698406. NERC/Centre for Ecology & Hydrology.
- Tian, H., Xu, R., Canadell, J.G., Thompson, R.L., Winiwarter, W., Suntharalingam, P., Davidson, E.A., Ciais, P., Jackson, R.B., Janssens-Maenhout, G., Prather, M.J., Regnier, P., Pan, N., Pan, S., Peters, G.P., Shi, H., Tubiello, F.N., Zaehle, S., Zhou, F., Arneth, A., Battaglia, G., Berthet, S., Bopp, L., Bouwman, A.F., Buitenhuis, E.T., Chang, J., Chipperfield, M.P., Dangal, S.R.S., Dlugokencky, E., Elkins, J.W., Eyre, B.D., Fu, B., Hall, B., Ito, A., Joos, F., Krummel, P.B., Landolfi, A., Laruelle, G.G., Lauerwald, R., Li, W., Lienert, S., Maavara, T., MacLeod, M., Millet, D.B., Olin, S., Patra, P.K., Prinn, R.G., Raymond, P.A., Ruiz, D.J., van der Werf, G.R., Vuichard, N., Wang, J., Weiss, R.F., Wells, K.C., Wilson, C., Yang, J., Yao, Y., 2020. A comprehensive quantification of global nitrous oxide sources and sinks. Nature 586, 248–256. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-020-2780-0.
- Tuomisto, H.L., Hodge, I.D., Riordan, P., Macdonald, D.W., 2012. Exploring a safe operating approach to weighting in life cycle impact assessment - a case study of organic, conventional and integrated farming systems. J. Clean. Prod. 37, 147–153. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2012.06.025.

- Vargas-Gonzalez, M., Witte, F., Martz, P., Gilbert, L., Humbert, S., Jolliet, O., van Zelm, R., L'Haridon, J., 2019. Operational Life Cycle Impact Assessment weighting factors based on Planetary Boundaries: Applied to cosmetic products. Ecol. Indic. 107, 105498. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2019.105498.
- Vitousek, P.M., Menge, D.N.L., Reed, S.C., Cleveland, C.C., 2013. Biological nitrogen fixation: rates, patterns and ecological controls in terrestrial ecosystems. Phil. Trans. R. Soc. B 368, 20130119. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2013.0119.
- Walker, B., Holling, C.S., Carpenter, S.R., Kinzig, A., 2004. Resilience, adaptability and transformability in social–ecological systems. Ecol. Soc. 9.
- Wang-Erlandsson, L., Tobian, A., van der Ent, R.J., Fetzer, I., te Wierik, S., Porkka, M., Staal, A., Jaramillo, F., Dahlmann, H., Singh, C., Greve, P., Gerten, D., Keys, P.W., Gleeson, T., Cornell, S.E., Steffen, W., Bai, X., Rockström, J., 2022. A planetary boundary for green water. Nat. Rev. Earth Environ. 3, 380–392. https://doi.org/10.1038/s43017-022-00287-8.
- Wetterkontor.de, 2020. Wetterrückblick Jahreswerte Deutschland. https://www.wetterkontor.de/wetter-rueckblick/jahreswerte/deutschland?jahr=2020 (accessed 7 June 2022).
- Wolff, A., Gondran, N., Brodhag, C., 2017. Detecting unsustainable pressures exerted on biodiversity by a company. Application to the food portfolio of a retailer. J. Clean. Prod. 166, 784–797. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2017.08.057.
- Wowra, K., Zeller, V., Schebek, L., 2021. Nitrogen in Life Cycle Assessment (LCA) of agricultural crop production systems: Comparative analysis of regionalization approaches. Sci. Total Environ., 143009. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.143009.
- Wowra, K., Zeller, V., Schebek, L., 2022a. Evaluation of the Environmental Performance of Cropping Systems under Different Nitrogen Management Scenarios Considering Regional Nitrogen Resilience. Sustainability 14, 15286. https://doi.org/10.3390/su142215286.
- Wowra, K., Zeller, V., Schebek, L., 2022b. Regional nitrogen resilience as distance-to-target approach in LCA of crop production systems. Environ. Impact Assess. Rev. 97, 106869. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eiar.2022.106869.
- Yang, Y., Heijungs, R., 2017. A generalized computational structure for regional life-cycle assessment. Int. J. Life Cycle Assess. 22, 213–221. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11367-016-1155-0.

APPENDIX

Appendix I. Supplementary material: Evaluation of the environmental performance of cropping systems under different nitrogen management scenarios considering regional nitrogen resilience

Supporting information can be downloaded at

https://doi.org/10.48328/tudatalib-1119

SM1: Results of background intervention (BI), regional normalization reference (rNR), regional normalization reference considering BI (rNRBI), results of environmental interventions (EI) for all regions and scenarios including sensitivity of LCIA methods, analysis of reduction of background interventions for all regions and scenarios including sensitivity for LCIA methods, LCA results contribution analysis, LCIA results of all impact categories, regions and scenarios.

SM2: Results of sensitivity and uncertainty analysis.